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Dear Shareholder:
Qualstar’s eighteenth year of operations ended on June 30,
2003. Fiscal 2003 was the beginning of a transition period
for the Company. During the year, we experienced gradually
declining sales of our tape libraries based on the AIT tape
format and increasing sales of units utilizing 1⁄2 inch-based tape
formats. Additionally, through the year, we made a substantial
commitment to a heightened level of R&D activities designed
to drive future growth, which, in turn, put pressure on our
customary level of profitability.
Although these challenges impacted our revenue, we generated
net income of $549,000, our sixteenth consecutive year of
profitability. We further strengthened our balance sheet, ending
the year with no debt and over $36 million in cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities.
On the product development front, we successfully introduced
a number of innovative data storage solutions that we believe
will lead to growing sales opportunities in the years ahead. We
launched an entirely new product line of rack-mountable
libraries designed to give small and medium sized companies
maximum system flexibility and high volumetric efficiency.
Production of the RLS Series is continuing to increase. We also
developed and shipped enhanced versions of our core TLS tape
libraries incorporating new advancements, such as native fibre
tape drive interfaces, Super AIT (SAIT) tape technology and a
Write-Once, Read-Many (WORM) capability that enables our
customers to meet the increasingly stringent data preservation
requirements mandated by new federal regulations.
The prolonged slowdown in IT spending has presented us
with both challenges and opportunities. In fiscal 2004, we will
focus on a number of key initiatives that will expand our
addressable market and begin the process of taking the company to the next level. Some of these activities are already
underway:
• Expand the RLS opportunity. Building on the positive
market response the RLS Series generated in fiscal 2003,
we are developing additional models and connectivity options
for this library family. Combining high storage density,
superior reliability and space efficiency, the six-model RLS
Series satisfies tomorrow’s needs, yet is priced to meet
today’s tight IT budgets. Unique in the industry, the RLS has
our patented storage array that allows us to pack more tapes
in five units of rack height than any competitor.
• Increase SAIT-Equipped Library Market Presence.
We will leverage our head start as the first company to
ship libraries incorporating Sony’s leading edge Super AIT
technology. We are incorporating a direct fiber attached

version of the SAIT drive into our TLS products. Standing
apart from other formats, SAIT, at 500 gigabytes per tape,
is an exciting new technology that provides the world’s
highest storage capacity and best-in-class performance.
• Launch XLS Library Line. Utilizing our strong financial
position, we remain committed to the development
of enterprise-class tape libraries to penetrate this $250
million plus market segment. The development is on schedule
and we are working toward a product launch within the next
twelve months. While historically we have enjoyed a solid
position in the tabletop and small free-standing library
market, some of our customers are shifting their emphasis
toward more powerful enterprise systems with storage
requirements upwards of 4,000 tapes. When complete, we
expect that our XLS line will serve as a primary, long-term
growth catalyst.
• Broaden Power Supply Offerings. Leveraging our
N2Power group’s expertise in high efficiency power supplies,
we are broadening our product offerings into the 160
and 250-watt segments of the market. Although N2Power
currently contributes a relatively small portion of total
revenues compared to our library products, N2Power has
posted sequential, double-digit growth each quarter since
we acquired the company in July 2002. In the face of
increasing worldwide concerns over energy costs and power
efficiency, we believe that N2Power products will provide a
growing revenue opportunity over time.
In addition to our product development efforts, we have taken
steps to strengthen our sales and marketing infrastructure, by
recruiting and training new resellers and opening a sales office
in Washington D.C. to focus on government opportunities.
While we have a lot of work ahead of us, I believe that our
investment in product development and sales initiatives will
become the building blocks for future prosperity.
I would like to thank all of our shareholders, employees,
customers and suppliers for their hard work and continued
support during the past year.
Sincerely,

William J. Gervais
President and Chief Executive Officer
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forwardlooking statements inherently are subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which we cannot predict or
quantify. Our actual results may diÅer materially from the results projected in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that might cause such a diÅerence include, but are not limited to, those discussed in ""ITEM 1 Ì
Business,'' including the section therein entitled ""Risk Factors,'' and in ""ITEM 7 Ì Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.'' You generally can identify forwardlooking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as ""believes,'' ""may,'' ""will,'' ""expects,''
""intends,'' ""estimates,'' ""anticipates,'' ""plans,'' ""seeks,'' or ""continues,'' or the negative thereof or variations
thereon or similar terminology. Forward looking statements also include the assumptions underlying or
relating to any such statements. Forward looking statements contained within this document represent a goodfaith assessment of Qualstar's future performance for which management believes there is a reasonable basis.
Qualstar disclaims any obligation to update the forward looking statements contained herein, except as may be
required by law.
PART I
Item 1. Business
Introduction
We design, develop, manufacture and sell automated magnetic tape libraries used to store, retrieve and
manage electronic data primarily in network computing environments. Tape libraries consist of cartridge tape
drives, storage arrays of tape cartridges and robotics to move the tape cartridges from their storage locations to
the tape drives under software control. Our tape libraries provide storage solutions for organizations requiring
backup, recovery and archival storage of critical electronic information. Our tape libraries also can provide
near-online storage as an alternative to disk drives. Our products are compatible with commonly used network
operating systems, including UNIX, Windows NT, NetWare and Linux. Our tape libraries also are
compatible with a wide range of storage management software packages, such as those supplied by Computer
Associates, Legato, Tivioli and Veritas. We oÅer tape libraries for multiple tape drive technologies, including
those using Advanced Intelligent Tape(AIT), Super Advanced Intelligent Tape(SAIT), Super Digital Linear
Tape(SDLT), and Linear Tape Open(LTO) tape drives and media.
We sell our tape libraries worldwide, primarily to value added resellers, system integrators, and original
equipment manufacturers. These customers integrate our products with software from third party vendors to
provide storage solutions, and in turn resell to end users. We custom conÑgure each of our libraries based on
each customer's individual requirements, with a typical delivery time of one to three working days. This rapid
fulÑllment of customer orders allows our resellers to minimize their inventory levels and allows us to compete
eÅectively with distribution channels used by our competitors.
Qualstar was incorporated in California in 1984. The initial products were IBM compatible 9-track reelto-reel tape drives. In 1995, we entered the tape automation market with a series of tape libraries incorporating
8mm tape drives. Since that time, we have introduced a succession of tape library models designed to work
with 8mm and other tape drive technologies and tape media formats. Automated tape libraries and related
products, such as tape drives and tape media, represented approximately 89.3% of revenues for Ñscal 2001,
approximately 82.9% of revenues for Ñscal 2002, and approximately 79.8% of revenues for Ñscal 2003. Sales of
9-track tape drives, services and other products accounted for the balance of our revenues.
In July 2002, we purchased the assets of N2 Power, Incorporated, a supplier of ultra small high eÇciency
open-frame switching power supplies. Power supplies provided by N2 Power are utilized within our tape
library products as well as sold to other original equipment manufacturers for incorporation into their products.
N2Power products are sold under the N2Power brand name through outside sales representatives and
distributors to original equipment manufacturers.
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Industry Background
Storing, managing and protecting data has become critical to the operation of many enterprises as the
world economy becomes increasingly information dependent. The need for data storage is growing in response
to the increase in the amount of data that is generated and must be preserved. The amount of data has been
increasing due to the growth in the number of computers, the number, size and complexity of computer
networks and software applications, and the emergence of new applications such as image processing, ecommerce, Internet services, medical, video and motion picture image storage, and other multi-media
applications. In addition, businesses continue to generate increasing amounts of traditional business information with respect to their products, customers and Ñnancial information. This increase in the amount of data
that is generated stimulates increases in the demand for data storage and the management of this data.
Factors Driving Growth in Data
The following factors are contributing to the growth in data storage:
‚ Increased demand from Internet and e-commerce businesses. The growth in the Internet and ecommerce has created businesses that depend on the creation, access and archival storage of data. We
believe that the need to utilize databases will continue to grow as individuals and businesses increase
their reliance on the Internet for communications, commerce and data retrieval.
‚ Growth in new types of data. The growth in data is being fueled not only by the increase in
information but also in the types of stored data. For example, storage of graphics, audio and MP3,
video, medical and security images, and multi-media uses such as video on demand, require far greater
storage capacity than text and Ñnancial data.
‚ Growth in the critical importance of data. Corporate databases contain useful information about
customer records, order patterns and other factors that can be analyzed and transformed into a valuable
asset and a competitive advantage. The ability to eÇciently store, manage and protect this information
is important to the value and success of many businesses. The usefulness of past and present data is
further enhanced by new sophisticated data mining software applications that can access and analyze
large databases.
‚ Growth in network server computing applications and data. The use of server-based computer
networks has shifted critical information and applications to network servers in order to allow more
people to gain access to stored data as well as to create new data. As the speed of network computing
has increased, numerous new applications have become feasible such as computer fax, e-mail and
voicemail, all of which generate progressively more data. Organizations increasingly are aware of the
need to protect this data as networks become a mission-critical element of many operations.
‚ Decrease in the costs of storing data. The costs of data storage have decreased with advances in
technology and improved manufacturing processes. We expect these costs to continue to decrease.
Decreases in costs not only encourage the storage of more data, but also make it more cost eÅective to
add storage capacity rather than to remove old data, contributing to greater storage demand for data
which in the past may have been purged periodically.
Advances in Storage Management Technologies
The growth in data and need for storage is contributing to an evolution in traditional storage solutions.
New open standard technologies are designed to provide high-speed connectivity for data-intensive applications across multiple operating systems, including UNIX, Windows NT, NetWare and Linux. These new
methods of storage and data management technologies include the following:
‚ Fibre Channel. Fibre Channel is an interface technology based on industry standards for the
connection of storage devices to networks. Interface is the term used to describe the electronics,
cabling and software used to facilitate communications between devices. With Fibre Channel, users are
better able to share stored information with other storage devices and servers over longer distances,
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with data transfer speeds signiÑcantly faster than the most common interface technology in use today,
thereby increasing the importance of storage area networks.
‚ Storage Area Networks. Storage area network, or SAN, architecture applies the inherent beneÑts of a
networked approach to data storage applications, which allows data to move eÇciently and reliably
between multiple storage devices and servers. The beneÑts of SAN architecture also include increasing
the expandability of existing storage solutions and providing a higher level of connectivity than
currently exists with traditional technologies. Additionally, SANs are able to provide these beneÑts
across multiple operating systems.
‚ Advanced storage management software. The development of advanced storage management
software has led to the use of tape as a lower-cost alternative to disk drives for on-line storage. This
software automatically migrates infrequently accessed data to the lower cost storage medium such as a
tape library. A user's request for this data at some later date will recall the data automatically from the
tape library and put it back on the disk Ñle for user access. This sometimes is referred to as near-online
storage. This process reduces the overall storage cost by using the least expensive storage medium to
save data that is not expected to be needed on a frequent basis. Advances in storage management
software have increased the ability of businesses to store, manage and retrieve important data, which in
turn allows businesses to operate more eÇciently.
‚ Network Attached Storage. Current storage devices are dependent on a Ñle server for all commands
and control. Network attached storage devices give storage devices Ñle server functionality, which allow
users to plug a storage library directly into a network without increasing demands on the Ñle server or
requiring a separate Ñle server. This allows users to maintain, or even enhance, system performance
while saving on both time and cost.
Types of Data Storage
Current non-volatile storage solutions are based primarily on three technologies: magnetic disk, optical
disk and magnetic tape. Each of these solutions represents a compromise among a variety of competing factors
including capacity, cost, speed, portability and data reliability. Magnetic tapes are removable, which allows
them to be transported easily to an oÅ-site location for security or protection from natural disasters. Magnetic
and optical disks provide quicker access to stored data and generally are used when speed is important. Less
frequently used data often is migrated from magnetic or optical disks to tape storage. Tape libraries provide a
near-online solution, where less frequently used data Ñles are stored on tapes instead of on disks.
Tape Libraries and Applications
Automated tape libraries speed the tape loading process, eliminate errors induced by human operators,
and enhance security compared to tapes that must be retrieved and loaded manually. Tape libraries also are
capable of being operated from a remote location or during oÅ-hours when no attendant is on duty. Automated
tape libraries are a key component of a network administrator's overall storage solution.
Tape drives and tape media are two key components of tape libraries. The costs of tape drives and tape
media have declined with advances in technology, and we expect this trend to continue. As prices decline, new
applications for automated storage become justiÑed, further increasing the number of applications that can
beneÑt from the use of tape libraries. We believe that continued technological improvements in tape drives
and tape media will further reduce overall storage costs in the future.
Current and emerging applications for tape libraries include:
‚ Automated backup. Backup is the creation of a duplicate copy of current data for the purpose of
recovery in the event the original data is lost or damaged. An automated tape library, in conjunction
with storage management software, can backup network data at any time without human intervention.
A library with multiple tape drives can backup data using all of its drives simultaneously, thus
signiÑcantly speeding up the recording process. Backup tapes can be removed from the library and
stored in an oÅ-site location for protection against a physical or natural disaster at the primary site.
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‚ Archiving. Archiving is the storage of data for historical purposes. When important information is
stored on tape, automated tape libraries, in conjunction with storage management software, can catalog
tapes for future retrieval and prevent unauthorized removal or corruption of data by using password or
key lock protection. Archival tapes provide a historic record for use in fraud detection, audit, legal and
for other purposes. Tape libraries also are used for archiving because of the beneÑts oÅered by the tape
medium, such as long-term data integrity, resistance to environmental contamination, ease of
relocation, low cost, and the availability of ""write once read many'' or worm tapes and tape drives.
‚ Digital video. Digital recording of camera images for surveillance and security purposes is beginning
to replace traditional analog VHS recording in mid-size to large installations such as airports, retail
stores, government facilities and gaming operations. This is an important market opportunity because
tape libraries eliminate the need for operators to load, unload, store and retrieve the vast number of
tapes created in these facilities. Library based systems index, store and play back the video images on
demand, thereby reducing the recall time and cost of operation signiÑcantly when compared to VHS
recording and playback devices. Digital recording technology provides enhanced resolution and
accommodates the recording of transactional data such as cash register transaction data and credit card
data alongside the video image, which is not possible with VHS recording technology.
‚ Image management. Storage-intensive applications such as satellite mapping and medical image
management systems are turning to tape libraries because of the cost advantage over traditional storage
methods. X-ray images or MRI results, for instance, must frequently be kept on Ñle for years. Tape
library storage of a digitized image costs considerably less than storing a Ñlm copy, and can be recalled
years later with considerably less eÅort. Additionally, there is a trend to require that these records be
kept available for longer periods of time.
Distribution of Tape Library Products
The requirements for storage solutions vary depending on the size of an enterprise, the type of data
generated and the amount of data to be stored. With the increased dependence on stored data, most
organizations, regardless of their size, have a heightened need for storage solutions that integrate devices such
as tape drives, tape libraries and storage management software. Those organizations with suÇcient in-house
information technology resources can rely on their internal infrastructure and expertise to design, purchase and
implement their own storage solutions. These organizations may elect to purchase equipment from distributors
or directly from original equipment manufacturers. Many organizations, however, do not have suÇcient inhouse resources but often have the same need for data storage solutions. These organizations often look to
value added resellers to design, supply and install their storage solutions.
Value added resellers develop and install storage solutions for enterprises that face complex storage needs
but lack the in-house capability of designing and implementing the proper solution or have chosen to
outsource these functions. Typically, the value added reseller will select among a variety of diÅerent hardware
technologies and storage management software options, as well as provide installation and other services to
deliver a complete storage solution for the end user.
Value added resellers require rapid turnaround of orders, custom conÑguration of tape libraries, drop
shipment to their customer's site, compatibility with multiple tape formats and storage management software,
and marketing and technical support.
Original equipment manufacturers generally resell products made by others under their own brand name
and typically assume responsibility for product sales, service and support. Original equipment manufacturers
enable manufacturers, such as Qualstar, to reach end users not served by other reseller distribution channels
and to serve select vertical markets where speciÑc original equipment manufacturers have exceptional
strength. Original equipment manufacturers require special services such as product conÑguration control,
extensive qualiÑcation testing, custom colors and private labeling.
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Our Solution
We oÅer storage solutions that respond to the growing data management challenges facing businesses
today, while addressing the unique needs of value added resellers and original equipment manufacturers.
We believe that high product reliability is important to the end users of our products due to the critical
nature of the data that is being stored, shorter time periods available for the back-up operations, and the
operation of backup systems during hours when personnel may not be available to respond to problems. To
address these concerns, we emphasize quality and reliability in the design, assembly and testing of our
products which reduces the potential for product failures and results in products that require little
maintenance.
The technology utilized within automated tape libraries is continuously evolving due to advances in data
recording methods, component cost reductions, advances in semiconductor and microprocessor technologies,
and a general trend toward miniaturization in the electronics industry. This changing technology requires that
we continuously develop and market new products in order to prevent our product lines from becoming
obsolete. To give a few examples, this year we completed development of 5 new models in our RLS rackmount series of tape libraries, of which, all 5 models were shipping as of the date of this report. Furthermore,
we introduced 4 models of our new TLS 5000 Series Tape Library which incorporates SAIT tape technology.
SAIT tapes have the highest density available on the market at 500 gigabytes per tape (native), making the
TLS 5000 Series Tape Library the lowest cost per gigabyte tape library on the market.
Our tape libraries are compatible with over Ñfty third-party storage management software packages, such
as those supplied by Computer Associates, Legato, Tivoli and Veritas. Storage management software enables
network administrators to allocate the use of storage technologies among user groups or tasks, to manage data
from a central location, and to retrieve, transfer and backup data between multiple workstations. We believe
that storage management software is a crucial component of any automated storage installation, and the lack
of compatibility is a signiÑcant barrier to entry for new tape library competitors. To ensure compatibility, our
engineers work closely with the application software vendors during product development cycles. We do not
have contracts with any application software vendors, nor do we need access to their software code to design
our products. We maintain relationships with them by supplying evaluation tape libraries so they can qualify
their software to work with our tape libraries and by evaluating their software for compatibility with our tape
libraries. We also support our relationships with them by keeping them informed as to current and
contemplated changes to our products and by referring business to them when value added resellers or end
users inquire about software sources.
We have focused our business primarily on supporting value added resellers and original equipment
manufacturers as the most eÅective and proÑtable distribution channels for our tape libraries. Our solution is
to oÅer our resellers reliable tape libraries, multiple tape format choices, and more attractive proÑt
opportunities than do other tape library manufacturers. We custom conÑgure each of our libraries based on the
resellers' requirements, with a typical delivery time of one to three working days. Our solution for original
equipment manufacturers is to oÅer them control over product design changes, qualiÑcation testing, and
private labeling. We believe these factors enhance the resellers' and original equipment manufacturers' ability
to sell our products and encourage them to remain loyal to Qualstar.
Strategy
Our goals are to enhance our position as a supplier of automated tape libraries and to increase our market
share in each of the tape formats in which we compete. To achieve these goals, we intend to:
‚ OÅer libraries for multiple tape drive technologies. We oÅer tape libraries for a range of tape drive
technologies, including Advanced Intelligent Tape (AIT), Super Advanced Intelligent Tape (SAIT),
Super Digital Linear Tape (SDLT), and Linear Tape Open (LTO) tape media formats. By oÅering
products based on multiple tape drive technologies, we reduce our dependence on the success of any
single technology and can oÅer products that target the speciÑc preferences of resellers and their enduser customers.
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‚ Focus distribution on value added reseller channels. We sell our products primarily through selected
value added resellers who have a strong market presence, have demonstrated the ability to work
directly with end users, and who maintain relationships with major vendors of storage management
software. Because we market our products primarily through this channel, we have implemented a
variety of programs to support and enhance our relationships with our reseller partners. These programs
are designed to increase the likelihood of closing a sale and to increase the reseller's proÑt margins. We
intend to maintain our marketing presence in support of this distribution channel. We conduct business
with our value added resellers on an individual purchase order basis and no long-term commitments are
involved. Additionally, there are no exclusive territories assigned to our value added resellers.
‚ Maintain and strengthen original equipment manufacturer relationships. We sell our products to
several companies under private label or original equipment manufacturer relationships. Original
equipment manufacturer sales enable us to reach some end users not served by our value added
resellers. The same product characteristics that make our tape libraries attractive to value added
resellers also are important to original equipment manufacturers. We will continue to pursue and
develop opportunities with original equipment manufacturers. We conduct business with our original
equipment manufacturer customers on an individual purchase order basis and no long-term commitments are in place.
‚ Develop libraries for new tape technologies. The tape drive industry is continuously advancing the
state of technology. We will continue to monitor new product releases and design new libraries for
those technologies that appear promising and meet our standards for capacity, quality and reliability.
‚ Maintain our rate of innovation. We plan to maintain our high level of research and development
eÅorts in order to exploit emerging technologies and product opportunities. We intend to continue the
expansion of our product lines to incorporate higher capacities and new technologies.
We believe that our experience, eÇciency and strict control over the development and manufacturing of
new products are key factors in the successful execution of our strategy. We design our tape libraries with a
high percentage of common parts, use quality components and minimize the number of moving parts. We
utilize proprietary techniques in the design, production and testing of our libraries in order to simplify the
manufacturing process and reduce our costs. We produce all of our products at a single facility and control our
inventory closely to provide rapid delivery to our customers. These steps allow us to design and bring to market
new products rapidly in response to changing technology.
Products
Tape Libraries
We oÅer a number of tape library families, each capable of incorporating one or more tape drive
technologies, as summarized in the following table:
Product Family

TLS-4000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
TLS-5000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
TLS-6000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
TLS-8000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
RLS-4000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
RLS-5000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
RLS-6000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
RLS-8000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Models in
Product
Family

Tape Drive
Technology

Range of Tape
Cartridges

Maximum
Capacity in
Terabytes(1)

11
4
7
7
3
1
1
1

Sony AIT
Sony SAIT
Quantum SDLT
LTO
Sony AIT
Sony SAIT
Quantum SDLT
LTO

12 to 600
33 - 264
10 to 240
11 to 264
22 - 70
44
27
36

60.0
132.0
38.4
52.8
7.0
22.0
4.3
7.2

(1) A Terabyte is one million megabytes, or one thousand gigabytes. The table shows native capacity and
excludes gains from data compression, which can increase capacity by more than 100%.
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Some of our tape library product families include a number of models that diÅer in storage capacity, price
and features. Our libraries are installed in network computing environments ranging from small departmental
networks to enterprise-wide networks supporting hundreds of users. We believe that selling products for
multiple tape drive technologies insulates us somewhat from the dynamics of the marketplace as various tape
standards compete for market share. This helps our products appeal to the broadest possible range of end-user
market segments. This wide range of products makes us a one-stop supplier for our value added reseller and
original equipment manufacturer customers, enabling them to meet most end-user requirements for a speciÑc
tape format. Our wide range of products for competing tape drive technologies also helps to insulate us from
the occasional supply shortages from tape drive or tape media manufacturers.
Tape libraries generally contain two or more tape drives and from several to thousands of tapes. We
concentrate our product oÅerings in the middle segment range of 12 to 600 tapes. We design our tape libraries
for continuous, unattended operation. Multiple tape drives allow simultaneous access to diÅerent data Ñles by
diÅerent users on the network, and increase the rate at which data can move on to, out of, or within the
network. A library with multiple tape drives can back up data using all drives simultaneously, signiÑcantly
speeding up the recording process. Within the library, tape cartridges sometimes are stored in removable
magazines, allowing for bulk removal of the tapes. Our libraries also oÅer key features such as barcode readers
to scan cartridge labels, and an input/output port for importing and exporting individual tapes under system
control. Many of our library models are expandable after installation by increasing the number of tape storage
positions. This feature provides the end user with the ability to increase data capacity as storage needs grow.
We oÅer automated tape libraries with diÅerent data storage capacities and data transfer rates. We
continue to develop and release new libraries to expand our product oÅerings to meet the changing demands of
the marketplace. In addition, we continue to develop enhancements and improvements for our existing
products in order to maintain our competitive position in the marketplace.
Our tape libraries incorporate a number of specialized features that we believe improve reliability,
serviceability and performance, including:
‚ Rapid tape drive replacement. We design our libraries so that a tape drive can be replaced quickly
without special tools. This feature minimizes the oÅ-line time required when a tape drive must be
replaced, and frequently avoids the high cost and delays of a service call.
‚ Fibre Channel connectivity. We oÅer a Fibre Channel option on most of our models to meet the
needs of storage area networks and other high performance applications.
‚ Closed-loop servo control. Our tape libraries use digital closed-loop servo control for robotic motion
to provide precise tape handling. This yields robotic motion that is smooth, repeatable and highly
reliable.
‚ Brushless motors. We use only brushless electric motors in our tape libraries. Motors are a key
component in any robotic system. Brushless motors provide longer life and less electrical noise
compared to conventional brush-type motors. We build many of our own motors in order to obtain
optimum performance and reliability.
‚ Variable I/O Port. Our VIOP feature allows IT administrators the ability to select the number of
cartridge slots that can be dedicated to bulk import or export of media to or from the library.
‚ Remote management. Many larger companies with global back-up solutions or disaster management
programs require tape libraries that can be placed oÅ-site in various regions but must be administered
from a single location. With our Q-Link remote manager, our customers have the ability to put our
products anywhere in the world and manage them from a single administrative hub using a standard
web browser.
Our TLS Series product line is speciÑcally designed to be placed on the Öoor or on a table top, without
the need for a special equipment rack. If requested, we provide our customers with an adapter kit for mounting
some models in a rack. Other manufacturers design libraries primarily for rack-mounting, and supply an
adapter for table-top use. We chose the opposite approach to distinguish ourselves from many of our
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competitors. We believe that this approach provides the most convenient and lowest cost solution for the
largest segment of our customer base.
During Fiscal 2003 we commenced shipments of our RLS Series of tape libraries. These products are
designed to Ñt conveniently in equipment racks utilizing only Ñve standard units, or a total of 8.75 inches of
rack space. In addition, the RLS can provide all of the high-availability features needed in the most
demanding applications such as dual-redundant power supplies and hot-swappable power supplies and tape
drives. We believe these features give the RLS Series of tape libraries a competitive advantage over other
compact rack-mount tape libraries that do not oÅer as robust a combination of features. We believe this
product line will provide a cost eÅective solution for a large portion of our customer base.
Other Products
We have manufactured 9-track auto-loading reel-to-reel tape drives since 1990. Demand for 9-track tape
drives has been declining for many years, and we expect overall demand for 9-track tape drives to continue to
decline in the future. Therefore, we announced the end of the life for 9-track tape drives. In addition to our
tape libraries and 9-track tape drives, we sell ancillary products such as tape media, tape magazines, cables,
bar code labels and adapters for rack mounting our tape libraries.
In July of 2002, we purchased the assets and intellectual property of N2Power, Incorporated, a privately
held company located in Newbury Park, California. N2Power designs, develops, manufactures, and sells ultra
small high-eÇciency open-frame switching power supplies based upon its patented technology. Since the
purchase, N2Power has been relocated to our facility in Simi Valley, California. N2Power products are
utilized within our tape libraries as well as sold on the open market primarily through outside sales
representatives and distributors to original equipment manufacturers.
Sales and Marketing
Sales
We sell our tape library products primarily through value added resellers. Our direct sales force usually
will initiate contact with value added resellers who might be likely candidates to sell our tape libraries. We
strive to develop relationships with resellers who have expertise in storage management applications,
established relationships with end users and the experience to understand and satisfy their customers' needs.
We believe that by selling directly to value added resellers, we have an advantage over competitors who
force resellers to purchase through distributors and who sometimes sell directly to end users, thereby
competing with their own resellers. Some of the advantages of our strategy include the following:
‚ Higher proÑt margins. By avoiding the extra distribution markup, higher proÑt margins are available
to be shared by both us and the reseller.
‚ Custom conÑgurations. By circumventing the distribution step, we are able to oÅer custom conÑgurations of our products, such as special paint, private branding and non-standard interface options, on
very short notice.
‚ Channel conÖicts avoided. We refer all end-user inquiries to our reseller partners. Because they know
that we typically do not sell directly to the end user, there is an attitude of cooperation between the
reseller and us. Frequently, our sales representatives make end-user visits with the reseller to help close
a pending sale.
‚ Credit.

We typically extend credit to resellers if they meet our credit requirements.

‚ Rapid delivery. We generally ship a product to the reseller within one to three working days of
conÑrming an order, rivaling the delivery time of many distributors.
Although we sell our tape libraries primarily to value added resellers, we believe that original equipment
manufacturers are an important element of our business. We strive to work with original equipment
manufacturers early in the product development cycle so that we can obtain valuable product development
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feedback. The sales cycle for original equipment manufacturers generally encompasses six months to one year
and involves extensive product and system qualiÑcation testing, evaluation, integration and veriÑcation. Most
of our sales of automated tape libraries to original equipment manufacturers are for use in video surveillance
and medical imaging applications. Original equipment manufacturers typically assume responsibility for
product sales, service and support.
Our sales are spread across a broad customer base. For the year ended June 30, 2003, no single customer
accounted for more than 10% of our revenue.
Our international sales eÅorts are currently directed from our headquarters in Simi Valley, California.
European sales are coordinated through our European sales oÇce in the United Kingdom. We intend to
continue to develop our international markets and create additional outlets for our products. All of our
international sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. Revenues from customers outside of North America were
$13.9 million, or 26.9% of revenues in Ñscal 2001, $12.1 million or 32.2% of revenues in Ñscal 2002, and
$9.9 million or 29.4% of revenues in Ñscal 2003.
Marketing
We support our sales eÅorts with a broad array of marketing programs designed to generate brand
awareness, attract and retain qualiÑed value added resellers and inform end users about the advantages of our
products. We provide our resellers with a full range of marketing materials, including product speciÑcations,
sales literature, software connectivity information and product application notes. We train our resellers to sell
our products and to answer customers' questions. We advertise in key publications, and participate in trade
shows. We display our products under the Qualstar brand name at various trade shows including the
COMDEX Fall trade show, and participate in other trade shows in partnership with our principal suppliers
and resellers. We support our marketing and customer support with a website that features comprehensive
marketing and product information.
Another element of our marketing plan is our lead registration program. This program awards value
added resellers that uncover sales opportunities and promote our products to the end user. In exchange for this
eÅort, the reseller is rewarded with a higher proÑt margin on that particular sale. The lead registration program
gives our reseller partners an advantage over their competitors who purchase from distribution channels. We
conduct sales and technical training classes for our resellers. We also conduct various promotional activities
for resellers and end users, including product-speciÑc rebates and co-operative advertising.
Customer Service and Support
We believe that strong customer service and support is an essential aspect of our business. Our customer
service and support eÅorts consist of the following components:
‚ Technical support. Our technical support personnel are available twenty four hours per day, Monday
through Friday. Technical support personnel are available to all customers at no charge by telephone,
facsimile and e-mail to answer questions and solve problems relating to our products. Our technical
support personnel are trained in all aspects of our products. Our support staÅ is located at our
headquarters in Simi Valley, California. We sell service contracts for on-site service of our tape
libraries installed within the United States, which are fulÑlled by IBM.
‚ Engineering. Our engineers provide both pre-and post-sales support to our resellers. Engineers
typically become involved in more complex problem-solving situations involving interactions between
our products, third-party software, network server hardware and the network operating systems.
Engineers work with resellers and end users over the telephone and, in certain situations, visit the
customer's site.
‚ Training. We oÅer a product maintenance training program for end users, value added reseller and
original equipment manufacturer maintenance personnel. We conduct our training classes at our
headquarters, as well as on-site at the locations of our value added resellers or original equipment
manufacturers.
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‚ Warranty. The standard warranty period on our tape libraries is three years. During the Ñrst year for
our TLS libraries and the Ñrst three years for our RLS libraries, we oÅer immediate replacement of
defective products at no charge, subject to availability and credit approval of the purchaser. The
purchaser is responsible for returning the defective product to us in a timely manner without damage.
After the Ñrst year, the customer must Ñrst ship the tape library to our factory, where we will service
the product during the warranty period at no charge. We oÅer out-of-warranty factory service at a Öat
fee plus applicable taxes, duties and transportation costs. For tape drives, we pass the warranty
provided by the drive manufacturer on to our customer. On-site service for library products is available
within the United States and some foreign countries for an extra charge. We contract with outside
service providers to supply on-site service.
Manufacturing and Suppliers
We manufacture our products at our facility in Simi Valley, California. We currently operate four
assembly lines during one daily eight-hour shift. As needs require, we have the ability to add a second or third
shift to increase our capacity.
In order to respond rapidly to sales orders, we build our tape libraries to a semi-Ñnished state in advance
of receipt of an order, perform full testing and then place the tape libraries in a holding area until an order is
received. Once an order is conÑrmed, we remove the unit from the holding area, install tape drives and
conÑgure the unit to meet the speciÑc requirements of the order, retest and then ship.
The manufacturing cycle to bring the tape libraries to a semi-Ñnished state is approximately Ñve working
days. We believe that this capability represents an eÅective way to control our inventory levels while
maintaining the ability to Ñll speciÑc customer orders in short lead times. We coordinate inventory planning
and management with suppliers and customers to match our production to market demand. Once we conÑrm
a product order, we generally ship the product to the customer within one to three working days. We believe
this response time is among the fastest in the industry, and gives us a competitive edge. Because we Ñll the
majority of our orders as they are received, our backlog generally is small and is not indicative of future sales.
We select our suppliers carefully based on their ability to provide quality parts that meet our
speciÑcations and volume requirements. Inventory planning and management is coordinated closely with
suppliers to match our production needs. Many of the components assembled into our libraries are standard
oÅ-the-shelf parts, which reduces the risk of part shortages and allows us to maintain inventory of these parts
at a minimum. A number of our component parts are not available oÅ the shelf, but are designed to our
speciÑcations for integration into our products.
Tape drives and tape recording media are available only from a limited number of suppliers, some of
which are sole-source providers. Some of our suppliers compete with us by selling their own tape libraries. The
risk of allocation is greater upon the introduction of a new tape drive technology. Any disruption in supplies of
tape drives or tape media could delay shipments of our products. We have experienced only one situation
involving a limited supply of components. Between January 1999 and January 2000, Sony Electronics, Inc.,
our sole-source supplier of Advanced Intelligent Tape drives and tape media, was unable to provide us with
suÇcient quantities of 50 gigabyte tape media to meet our order volume. During this period, our customers
generally did not delay purchases of Advanced Intelligent Tape libraries from us because of this shortage, but
accepted delivery of tape libraries with a partial shipment of 50 gigabyte tape media or accepted 36 gigabyte
tape media, which was available during that period.
N2Power products are currently produced in China by a contract-manufacturing Ñrm. We provide
complete production documentation specifying each component and assembly techniques. We also specify
performance criteria used to test the power supplies after they complete a burn-in cycle at elevated
temperatures. Finished power supplies are shipped to our Simi Valley facility where they undergo further
quality control inspections and tests prior to shipping to our OEM customers.
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Competition
The market for automated tape libraries is intensely competitive and characterized by rapidly changing
technology and evolving standards. Because we oÅer a broad range of libraries for diÅerent tape drive
technologies, we tend to have a large number of competitors that diÅer depending on the particular format and
performance level. We compete in a segment of the overall tape library market that focuses on small to midrange network computing environments. Our principal competitors in this market segment include
StorageTek, Quantum/ATL Products, Advanced Digital Information Corporation (ADIC), Overland Storage, and Spectra Logic.
Many of our competitors have substantially greater Ñnancial and other resources, better name recognition, larger research and development staÅs, and more capabilities in manufacturing, marketing and
distributing products than we do. Our competitors may develop new technologies and products that are more
eÅective than our products. We are not ISO-9000 certiÑed, which may limit some customers' ability to
purchase our products. However, we do not believe that our current determination not to seek ISO-9000
certiÑcation has aÅected our sales to date.
As a greater number of competitors introduce products in a particular tape drive technology, the
increased competition normally results in price erosion, a reduction in gross margins and a loss of market share
for all competitors. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against either current or
potential competitors or that competition will not cause a reduction in our revenues or proÑt margins. We
believe that our ability to compete depends on a number of factors, including the success and timing of new
product developments by us and by our competitors, compatibility of our products with a broad range of
computing systems, product performance, reliability, price, marketing and sales execution, and customer
support. SpeciÑcally, we believe that the principal competitive factors in the selection of a tape library include:
‚ reliability of the robotic assembly that handles the tape cartridges;
‚ purchase price;
‚ storage capacity;
‚ speed of data transfer;
‚ compatibility with existing network operating systems and storage management software;
‚ after-sale expandability of a tape library to meet increasing storage requirements;
‚ expected product life and cost of maintenance; and
‚ the availability of optional features
‚ physical conÑguration and power requirements of the library.
We believe our tape libraries compete favorably with respect to these factors.
Research and Development
Our research and development group of 29 people consists of two teams. Our original team located in
Simi Valley, California, has developed over 40 separate tape library models for eleven diÅerent tape formats
over the last eight years. In Ñscal 2002 we established our Advanced Development Group in Boulder,
Colorado. They are responsible for the design and development of a new generation of tape libraries. Our
engineers are a diverse and robust group who have the capability to meet the needs of a complex and
demanding data storage market.
Our research and development eÅorts rely on the integration of multiple engineering disciplines to
generate products that meet market needs in a competitive and timely fashion. Successful development of
automated tape libraries requires the integration of mechanical design, electronic design packaging, software
design, and Ñrmware design into a single product. Product success also relies on the engineering group's
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thorough knowledge of each of the diÅerent tape drive technologies, as well as SCSI, iSCSI, and Fibre
Channel and other interface technologies.
We frequently develop new products in response to the availability of new tape drive technology. As tape
drive manufacturers compete in the marketplace, they continually invest in research and development to gain
performance leadership either by oÅering increasingly enhanced versions of their current tape drive products
or by introducing an entirely new tape drive technology. We beneÑt from these industry developments by
utilizing the new technology in our products. Our engineers work closely with various tape drive manufacturers
through the drive development cycle to assure that reliable tape library and tape drive combinations are
brought to market.
The design architecture of our tape libraries makes use of common parts across most product families
giving us the ability to develop and introduce new products quickly. If a new tape drive is an advanced version
of one already incorporated in one or more of our products, our time and dollar investment to incorporate the
new drive can be relatively small, with the primary focus being on veriÑcation testing. When the form factors
diÅer, the time and investment requirements can grow substantially, and may require development of a new
product family altogether.
We also develop new products as we identify emerging market needs. Our sales and marketing, product
development and engineering groups identify products to fulÑll customer and marketplace needs. Our research
and development group concentrates on leveraging previous engineering investments into new products. For
example, our Ñrmware is based on successive generations of the operating system developed for our Ñrst
library. We also use common parts in our diÅerent library series, and leverage our electro-mechanical and
electronic hardware technology from previous products into next generation designs. In some cases, entire
subassemblies are transferable, leveraging not only engineering time but also materials purchasing, inventory
stocking and manufacturing eÅorts.
Our research and development expenses were $1.3 million in Ñscal 2001, $2.1 million in Ñscal 2002, and
$4.0 million the year ended June 30, 2003. We anticipate spending at our current level, or slightly higher, on
research and development in the future.
Intellectual Property
We rely on copyright protection of our Ñrmware, as well as patent protection for some of our designs and
products. We also rely on a combination of trademark, trade secret and other intellectual property laws to
protect our proprietary rights. However, we do not believe our intellectual property provides signiÑcant
protection from competition. We believe that, because of the rapid pace of technological change in the tape
storage industry, patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection are less signiÑcant than factors such
as the knowledge, ability and experience of our personnel, and timely new product introductions.
We enter into Inventions and ConÑdentiality agreements with our development engineers to protect our
technology and designs. However, we do not believe that such protection can preclude competitors from
developing substantially equivalent products.
Employees
As of September 21, 2003, we had 111 full-time employees, including 35 in manufacturing, 29 in research
and development, 6 in customer service, 18 in sales and marketing, and 23 in Ñnance and administration. We
also employ a small number of temporary employees and consultants as needed. We are not a party to any
collective bargaining agreement or other similar agreement. We believe that we have a good relationship with
our employees.
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RISK FACTORS
Our principal competitors devote greater Ñnancial and marketing resources to developing and selling
automated tape libraries. Consequently, we may be unable to maintain or increase our market share.
We face signiÑcant competition in developing and selling automated tape libraries. Rapid and ongoing
changes in technology and product standards could quickly render our products less competitive, or even
obsolete. We have signiÑcantly fewer Ñnancial, technical, manufacturing, marketing and other resources than
many of our competitors and these limited resources may harm our business in many ways. For example, in
recent years several of our competitors have:
‚ acquired other tape library companies;
‚ increased the geographic scope of their market;
‚ oÅered a wider range of tape library products; and
‚ acquired proprietary software products that operate in conjunction with their products and the products
of their competitors.
In the future, our competitors may leverage their greater resources to:
‚ develop, manufacture and market products that are less expensive or technologically superior to our
products;
‚ attend more trade shows and spend more on advertising and marketing;
‚ reach a wider array of potential customers through a broader range of distribution channels;
‚ respond more quickly to new or changing technologies, customer requirements and standards; or
‚ reduce prices in order to preserve or gain market share.
We believe competitive pressures are likely to continue. We cannot guarantee that our resources will be
suÇcient to address this competition or that we will manage costs and adopt strategies capable of eÅectively
utilizing our resources. If we are unable to respond to competitive pressures successfully, our prices and proÑt
margins may fall and our market share may decrease.
We have a limited number of executives. The loss of any single executive or the failure to hire and
integrate capable new executives could harm our business.
The success of our business is tied closely to the managerial, engineering and business acumen of our
existing executives. William J. Gervais, our President, has been largely responsible for the development of
many of our tape libraries, has overseen our operations and growth, and established and maintained our
strategic relationships. We expect that he will continue these eÅorts for the foreseeable future. Our future
success will also depend on our ability to attract, retain and motivate key executives and other key personnel,
many of whom have been instrumental in developing new technologies and strategic plans. However, our
current dependence on a limited number of executives, for whom replacements may be diÇcult to Ñnd, entails
a risk that we may not be able to supervise and manage our ongoing operations.
Our suppliers could reduce shipments of tape drives and tape media. If this occurs, we would be forced to
curtail production, our revenues could fall and our market share could decline.
Automated tape libraries and related products, such as tape drives and tape media, represented
approximately 89.3% of our revenues for Ñscal year 2001, approximately 82.9% of our revenues for Ñscal 2002,
and approximately 79.8% of our revenues for the year ended June 30, 2003. We depend on a limited number of
third-party manufacturers to supply us with the tape drives and tape media that we incorporate into our
automated tape libraries. Some tape drive manufacturers, including Sony Corporation and Quantum
Corporation, compete with us by also manufacturing tape libraries. There can be no assurance that other tape
drive manufacturers will not also begin to manufacture libraries.
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Historically, some of these suppliers have been unable to meet demand for their products and have
allocated their limited supply among customers. If suppliers limit our supply of tape drives or tape media, we
may be forced to delay or cancel shipments of our tape libraries. The major supplier risks we face include the
following:
‚ Sony Electronics, Inc. is our sole-source supplier of 8 millimeter Advanced Intelligent Tape drives and
media, and Super Advanced Intelligent tape drives and media. Sony has allocated some of their
products in the past and may allocate them again in the future. In Ñscal 2001, we derived $39.8 million,
or 77.1%, of our revenues, in Ñscal 2002 we derived $24.6 million, or 65.3% of revenues, and in Ñscal
2003, we derived $18.9 million, or 56.2% of our revenues from the sale of libraries, tape drives and tape
media based on Sony Advanced Intelligent Tape technology. If Sony reduces its sales to us or raises its
prices, we could lose revenues and our margins could decline.
‚ Quantum Corporation is our sole-source supplier of SDLT tape drives and competes with us as a
manufacturer of automated tape libraries. In the past, Quantum has allocated quantities of tape drives
among its customers. It is possible that Quantum will allocate again, and as a result, may be unable to
meet our future SDLT tape drive requirements.
‚ The Linear Tape Open standard was developed by an industry consortium consisting of IBM, Hewlett
Packard and Seagate. LTO competes with 8mm and other half-inch tape drives and media. IBM and
Hewlett Packard both sell automated tape libraries that utilize LTO tape drives and compete with our
products. Therefore, even if we receive adequate allocation, it may be at a price that renders our
products uncompetitive.
Our other suppliers have in the past been, and may in the future be, unable to meet our demand,
including our needs for timely delivery, adequate quantity and high quality. We do not have long-term supply
contracts with any of our signiÑcant suppliers. The partial or complete loss of any of our suppliers could result
in lost revenue, added costs and production delays or could otherwise harm our business and customer
relationships.
Our revenues could decline if we fail to execute our distribution strategy successfully.
We distribute and sell our automated tape libraries through value added resellers and original equipment
manufacturers, and intend to continue this strategy for the foreseeable future. Value added resellers integrate
our tape libraries with products of other manufacturers and sell the combined products to their own customers.
Original equipment manufacturers combine our tape libraries with their own products and sell the combined
product under their own brand. We currently devote, and intend to continue to devote, signiÑcant resources to
develop these relationships. A failure to initiate, manage and expand our relationships with value added
resellers or original equipment manufacturers could limit our ability to grow or sustain our current level of
revenues.
Our focus on the distribution of our products through value added resellers poses the following risks:
‚ we may reach fewer customers because we depend on value added resellers to market to end users and
these value added resellers may fail to market eÅectively or fail to devote suÇcient or eÅective sales,
marketing and technical support to the sales of our products;
‚ we may lose sales because many of our value added resellers sell products that compete with our
products. These value added resellers may reduce their marketing eÅorts for our products in favor of
products manufactured by our competitors;
‚ our costs may increase as value added resellers generally require a higher level of customer support
than do original equipment manufacturers; and
‚ as the market for tape libraries matures, we expect that tape libraries designed for small and medium
size businesses will not require the level of sales, marketing and technical support traditionally provided
by value added resellers and, consequently, tape libraries for these customers will be increasingly sold
through distribution channels rather than through value added resellers.
14

We depend upon our original equipment manufacturer customers' ability to develop new products,
applications and product enhancements that incorporate our products in a timely, cost-eÅective and customerfriendly manner. We cannot guarantee that our original equipment manufacturer customers will meet these
challenges eÅectively. Original equipment manufacturers typically conduct substantial and lengthy evaluation
programs before certifying a new product for inclusion in their product line. We may be required to devote
signiÑcant Ñnancial and human resources to these evaluation programs with no assurance that our products
will ever be selected. In addition, even if selected by the original equipment manufacturer, there generally is
no requirement that the original equipment manufacturer purchase any particular amount of product or that it
refrain from purchasing competing products.
We do not have any exclusive or long-term agreements with our value added resellers or original
equipment manufacturers, who purchase our products on an individual purchase order basis. If we lose
important value added resellers or original equipment manufacturer customers, if they reduce their focus on
our products or if we are unable to obtain additional value added reseller or original equipment manufacturer
customers, our business could suÅer.
We rely on tape technology for all of our revenues. Our business will be harmed if demand for storage
solutions using tape technology declines or fails to develop as we expect.
We derive substantially all of our revenues from products that incorporate some form of tape technology.
We expect to derive substantially all of our revenues from these products for the foreseeable future. As a
result, we will continue to be subject to the risk of a decrease in revenues if demand for these products declines
or if rising prices make it more diÇcult to obtain them. If storage products incorporating technologies other
than tape gain comparable or superior market acceptance, our business could be harmed.
We depend upon the AIT tape format supplied by Sony Electronics Inc. for a large portion of our
revenues. Should Sony abandon or fail to advance this tape format, future revenues or operating results
could suÅer.
Sony Electronics Inc. is our sole supplier of AIT tape drives and tape media. If Sony should discontinue
manufacturing AIT tape products or fail to advance AIT technology to keep pace with the industry trend of
increasing tape capacity, our revenues or operating results could be signiÑcantly impacted.
Our revenues and operating results may Öuctuate unexpectedly from quarter to quarter, which may cause
our stock price to decline.
Our quarterly revenues and operating results have Öuctuated in the past, and may Öuctuate in the future
due to several factors, including:
‚ reductions in the size, delays in the timing, or cancellation of signiÑcant customer orders;
‚ Öuctuations in product mix;
‚ the timing of the introduction or enhancement of products by us, our original equipment manufacturer
customers or our competitors;
‚ expansions or reductions in our relationships with value added reseller and original equipment
manufacturer customers;
‚ Ñnancial diÇculties aÅecting our value added reseller or original equipment manufacturer customers
that render them unable to pay amounts owed to us;
‚ the rate of growth in the data storage market and the various segments within it;
‚ timing and levels of our operating expenses; and
‚ availability of tape media.
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We believe that period to period comparisons of our operating results may not necessarily be reliable
indicators of our future performance. It is likely that in some future period our operating results will not meet
your expectations or those of public market analysts.
Any unanticipated change in revenues or operating results is likely to cause our stock price to Öuctuate
since such changes reÖect new information available to investors and analysts. New information may cause
investors and analysts to revalue our stock and this, in the aggregate, may cause Öuctuations in our stock price.
Our lack of signiÑcant order backlog makes it diÇcult to forecast future revenues and operating results.
We normally ship products within a few days after orders are received. Consequently, we do not have
signiÑcant order backlog and a large portion of our revenues in each quarter results from orders placed during
that quarter. Because backlog can be an important indicator of future revenues, our lack of backlog makes it
more diÇcult to forecast our future revenues. Since our operating expenses are relatively Ñxed in the short
term, unexpected Öuctuations in revenues could negatively impact our quarterly operating results.
If we fail to develop and introduce new tape libraries on a timely and cost-eÅective basis, or if our
products do not contain the features required by the marketplace, we will eventually lose market share
and sales to more innovative competitors.
The market for our products is characterized by rapidly changing technology and evolving industry
standards. The future success of Qualstar will depend on our ability to anticipate changes in technology, to
develop new and enhanced products on a timely and cost-eÅective basis, and to introduce, manufacture and
achieve market acceptance of these new and enhanced products. Our products are facing increasing
competition from automated tape library products and likely will face competition from other types of storage
devices that may be developed in the future.
Development schedules for high technology products are inherently subject to uncertainty and there can
be no assurance we will be able to meet our product development schedules or that our development costs will
be within budgeted amounts. If the products or product enhancements developed are not deliverable due to
technical problems, quality issues or component shortages, or if such products or product enhancements are
not accepted by the marketplace or are unreliable, then our business, Ñnancial condition and results of
operations may be materially adversely aÅected.
The introduction of new storage technologies or the adoption of an industry standard diÅerent than our
current product standards could render our existing products obsolete.
We depend upon independent software vendors to provide software that integrates our libraries with
computer operating systems.
The utility of an automated tape library depends partly upon the storage management software, which
supports the library and integrates it into the user's computing environment to provide a complete storage
solution. We do not develop and have no control over the development of this storage management software.
Instead we rely on independent third party software vendors to develop and support this software. Accordingly,
the continued development and future growth of the market for our products will depend partly upon the
success of software vendors to meet the overall data storage and management needs of tape library purchasers
and our ability to maintain relationships with these Ñrms. Although we do not have contracts with any
independent software vendors, we maintain relationships with them by:
‚ supplying evaluation tape libraries so they can qualify their software to work with our tape libraries;
‚ evaluating their software for compatibility with our tape libraries;
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‚ keeping them informed as to current and contemplated changes to our products; and
‚ referring business to them when value added resellers or end users inquire about software sources.
Our customers have the right to return our products in certain circumstances. An excessive number of
returns may reduce our revenues.
Our customers have 30 days from the date of purchase to return products that do not conform with the
end-user's speciÑcations. We may otherwise allow product returns if we think that doing so maximizes the
eÅectiveness of our sales channels and promotes our reputation for quality and service.
Although we estimate and reserve for potential returns in our reported Ñnancial results, actual returns
could exceed our estimates. If the number of returns exceeds our estimates, our Ñnancial results could be
harmed for the periods during which returns are made.
We may spend money pursuing sales that do not occur when anticipated or at all.
Original equipment manufacturer customers typically conduct signiÑcant evaluation, testing, implementation and acceptance procedures before they begin to market and sell new models of tape libraries. This
evaluation process is lengthy and may range from six months to one year or more. This process is complex and
may require signiÑcant sales, marketing, engineering and management resources on our part. The process
becomes more complex as we simultaneously qualify our products with multiple customers or pursue large
orders with a single customer. As a result, we may expend resources to develop customer relationships before
we recognize any revenue from these relationships, if at all.
We sell a signiÑcant portion of our products to customers located outside of North America. Currency
Öuctuations and increased costs associated with international sales could make our products unaÅordable
in foreign markets, which would reduce our revenue or proÑtability.
Revenues from shipments to customers outside North America accounted for approximately 26.9% in
Ñscal 2001, 32.2% in Ñscal 2002, and 29.4% in Ñscal 2003. We believe that international sales will continue to
represent a signiÑcant portion of our revenues. Our foreign sales subject us to a number of risks, including:
‚ political and economic instability may reduce demand for our products or our ability to market our
products in foreign countries;
‚ although we denominate our international sales in U.S. dollars, currency Öuctuations could make our
products unaÅordable to foreign purchasers or more expensive compared to those of foreign
manufacturers;
‚ restrictions on the export or import of technology may reduce or eliminate our ability to sell in certain
markets;
‚ greater diÇculty of administering business overseas may increase the costs of foreign sales and support;
‚ foreign governments may impose tariÅs, quotas and taxes on our products;
‚ longer payment cycles typically associated with international sales and potential diÇculties in
collecting accounts receivable may reduce the proÑtability of foreign sales; and
‚ our current determination not to seek ISO-9000 certiÑcation, a widely accepted method of establishing
and certifying the quality of a manufacturer's products, may reduce sales.
These risks may increase our costs of doing business internationally and reduce our sales or proÑtability.
We may have to expend signiÑcant amounts of time and money defending or settling product liability
claims arising from failures of our tape libraries.
Because our tape library customers use our products to store and backup their important data, we face
potential liability if our products fail to perform. Although we maintain general liability insurance, our
17

insurance may not cover potential claims of this type or may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability
that may be imposed. Any imposition of liability that is not covered by insurance or that exceeds our insurance
coverage could reduce our proÑtability or cause us to discontinue operations.
A failure to develop and maintain proprietary technology may negatively aÅect our business.
We rely on copyright protection of our Ñrmware, as well as patent protection for some of our designs and
products. We also rely on a combination of trademark, trade secret, and other intellectual property laws and
various contract rights to protect our proprietary rights. However, we do not believe our intellectual property
rights provide signiÑcant protection from competition. As a consequence, these rights may not preclude
competitors from developing products that are substantially equivalent or superior to our products. In addition,
many aspects of our products are not subject to intellectual property protection and therefore can be
reproduced by our competitors.
Intellectual property infringement claims brought against us could be time consuming and expensive to
defend.
In recent years, there has been an increasing amount of litigation in the United States involving patents
and other intellectual property rights. We currently are defending a lawsuit brought against us by Raytheon
Company (""Raytheon''), which alleges that some of our tape library products infringe a patent owned by
Raytheon. This lawsuit is described in Item 3 of this report. In the future, we may become subject to other
claims or inquiries regarding our alleged unauthorized use of a third party's intellectual property. An adverse
outcome in litigation could force us to do one or more of the following:
‚ stop selling, incorporating or using our products or services that use the challenged intellectual
property;
‚ subject us to signiÑcant liabilities to third parties;
‚ obtain from the owners of the infringed intellectual property right a license to sell or use the relevant
technology, which license may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all; or
‚ redesign those products or services that use the infringed technology, which redesign may be either
economically or technologically infeasible.
Whether or not an intellectual property litigation claim is valid, the cost of responding to it, in terms of
legal fees and expenses and the diversion of management resources, could harm our business.
Undetected software or hardware Öaws could increase our costs, reduce our revenues and divert our
resources from our core business needs.
Our tape libraries are complex. Despite our eÅorts to revise and update our manufacturing and test
processes to address engineering and component changes, we may not be able to control and eliminate
manufacturing Öaws adequately. These Öaws may include undetected software or hardware defects associated
with:
‚ a newly introduced product;
‚ a new version of an existing product; or
‚ a product that has been integrated into a network storage solution with the products of other vendors.
The variety of contexts in which errors may arise may make it diÇcult to identify the source of a problem.
These problems may:
‚ cause us to incur signiÑcant warranty, repair and replacement costs;
‚ divert the attention of our engineering personnel from our product development eÅorts;
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‚ cause signiÑcant customer relations problems; or
‚ damage our reputation.
To address these risks, we frequently revise and update manufacturing and test procedures to address
engineering and component changes to our products. If we fail to adequately monitor, develop and implement
appropriate test and manufacturing processes we could experience a rate of product failure that results in
substantial shipment delays, repair or replacement costs or damage to our reputation. Product Öaws may also
consume our limited engineering resources and interrupt our development eÅorts. SigniÑcant product failures
would increase our costs and result in the loss of future sales and be harmful to our business.
Our oÇcers and directors could implement corporate actions that are not in the best interests of our
shareholders as a whole.
Our executive oÇcers and directors own beneÑcially, in the aggregate, approximately 44.5% of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, these shareholders will be able to exercise signiÑcant control over all
matters requiring shareholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of signiÑcant corporate
transactions, which could delay or prevent someone from acquiring or merging with us. The interests of our
oÇcers and directors, when acting in their capacity as shareholders, may lead them to:
‚ vote for the election of directors who agree with the incumbent oÇcers' or directors' preferred
corporate policy; or
‚ oppose or support signiÑcant corporate transactions when these transactions further their interests as
incumbent oÇcers or directors, even if these interests diverge from their interests as shareholders per se
and thus from the interests of other shareholders.
Some provisions of our charter documents may make takeover attempts diÇcult, which could depress the
price of our stock and inhibit your ability to receive a premium price for your shares.
Our board of directors has the authority, without any action by the shareholders, to issue up to 5,000,000
shares of preferred stock and to Ñx the rights and preferences of such shares. In addition, our articles of
incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that eliminate cumulative voting in the election of directors and
require shareholders to give advance notice if they wish to nominate directors or submit proposals for
shareholder approval. These provisions may have the eÅect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in
control, may discourage bids for our common stock at a premium over its market price and may adversely
aÅect the market price, and the voting and other rights of the holders, of our common stock.
We do not intend to pay dividends and therefore you will only be able to recover your investment in our
common stock, if at all, by selling the shares of the stock that you own.
We historically have pursued a policy of reinvesting our earnings in research and development, expanding
our value added reseller and original equipment manufacturer relationships, and expanding our manufacturing
capabilities. Consequently, we have never paid dividends on our shares of capital stock. We intend to continue
this policy for the foreseeable future to strengthen our Ñnancial and competitive position in the tape library
market.
Item 2. Properties
Qualstar leases all of the facilities used in our business. Our headquarters, manufacturing, and TLS and
RLS engineering are located in a single building containing approximately 57,000 square feet located in Simi
Valley, California. Our lease on this facility expires in February 2011, with an early termination option
becoming available in February of 2007. Rent on this facility is $39,000 per month, with step-ups ranging from
$2,400 to $2,800 per month every two years.
Qualstar also leases approximately 4,300 square feet of oÇce space in Boulder, Colorado, that houses our
Advanced Development Group. The lease of the Boulder, Colorado facility expires in 2007. Additionally,
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Qualstar maintains small sales oÇces in Kenyon, Rhode Island; San Diego, California; Atlanta, Georgia;
StaÅord Virginia; and Surrey, United Kingdom.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings
On January 10, 2003, Raytheon Company (""Raytheon'') Ñled a complaint in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas alleging that Qualstar and eight other named defendants infringe a
patent owned by Raytheon entitled ""Mass Data Storage Library.'' Raytheon Ñled an amended complaint on or
about February 6, 2003, which includes an allegation that Qualstar's tape libraries infringe Raytheon's patent.
The complaint seeks an injunction against all defendants and an unspeciÑed amount of damages. Qualstar
responded to the complaint on March 7, 2003 and denied Raytheon's allegations of infringement. The parties
are currently in the process of pre-trial discovery. A patent claims construction hearing is presently scheduled
for January 14, 2004 and a trial is scheduled for June 7, 2004, both of which will be located in Marshall,
Texas. Qualstar and our legal counsel continues to analyze Raytheon's patent and available defenses to the
claims of infringement. Based on this analysis, we believe that Raytheon's claims against us are without merit
and we intend to vigorously defend against this complaint. We do not believe the ultimate outcome of this
matter will have a material impact on our Ñnancial position or results of operations.
From time to time, we may be involved in other litigation or legal matters in the normal course of
business. However, other than the Raytheon matter discussed above, there are currently no other material
proceedings, pending or, to the knowledge of management, threatened against Qualstar.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Shareholders
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the Ñscal year ended
June 30, 2003.
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MANAGEMENT
Executive OÇcers
OÇcers are elected by and serve at the discretion of the board of directors. The executive oÇcers of
Qualstar as of September 26, 2003 are:
Name

Age

William J. Gervais ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Richard A. Nelson ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Thomas J. Studebaker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Frederic T. Boyer ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
David L. GriÇth ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Mark R. Gilmore ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Robert K. Covey ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

60
60
61
59
47
53
55

Position

Chief Executive OÇcer, President and Director
Vice President of Engineering, Secretary and Director
Vice President of Advanced Development
Vice President and Chief Financial OÇcer
Vice President of Operations
Vice President of Sales
Vice President of Marketing

Background
William J. Gervais is a founder of Qualstar and has been our President and a director since our inception
in 1984, and was elected Chief Executive OÇcer in January 2000. From 1984 until January 2000, Mr. Gervais
also served as our Chief Financial OÇcer. From 1981 until 1984, Mr. Gervais was President of Northridge
Design Associates, Inc., an engineering consulting Ñrm. Mr. Gervais was a co-founder, and served as
Engineering Manager from 1976 until 1981, of Micropolis Corporation. Mr. Gervais earned a B.S. degree in
Mechanical Engineering from California State Polytechnic University in 1967.
Richard A. Nelson is a founder of Qualstar and has been our Vice President of Engineering, Secretary
and a director since our inception in 1984. From 1974 to 1984, Mr. Nelson was self employed as an
engineering consultant specializing in microprocessor technology. Mr. Nelson earned a B.S. in Electronic
Engineering from California State Polytechnic University in 1966.
Thomas J. Studebaker has been our Vice President of Advanced Development since April of 2002. From
1997 to 2002, Mr. Studebaker was Vice President of Engineering, Storage Automation & Solutions Division of
Exabyte Corporation. From 1991 to 1997, Mr. Studebaker was Director of New Product Development for
Exabyte Corporation. Mr. Studebaker acted as Packaging and Robotic Development Manager of Storage
Technology Corporation from 1977 to 1991. In 1966, Mr. Studebaker received a B.S. in Mechanical
Engineering from the University of Colorado. Mr. Studebaker received his Post Graduate CertiÑcate from the
U.S. Army Management Engineering Training Agency in 1966.
Frederic T. Boyer has been our Vice President and Chief Financial OÇcer since October, 2002. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Boyer was Vice President and Chief Financial OÇcer of Accelerated Networks from 1998 to
2001. From May 1997 to October 1998, Mr. Boyer was the Senior Vice President, Finance and Administration
and Chief Financial OÇcer of Software Dynamics, Incorporated. From January 1996 to May 1997, Mr. Boyer
was a consultant to several technology companies. From March 1990 to January 1996, Mr. Boyer was Vice
President and Chief Financial OÇcer of Fibermux Corporation, a networking company later acquired by ADC
Telecommunications. Mr. Boyer holds an M.B.A. from Loyola Marymount University, a B.S. in Accounting
from California State University, Los Angeles, and a B.S. in Economics from California State Polytechnic
University, Pomona.
David L. GriÇth, currently our Vice President of Operations, joined the company in October of 2001.
From 1999 to 2001, Mr. GriÇth served as the President and Chief Executive OÇcer of Stardrive Solutions
Inc., a software solutions provider for the broadcast automation industry. From 1998 to 1999, Mr. GriÇth was
the Corporate Vice President of Business Development at Tandberg Data ASA where he was responsible for
the development of worldwide business plans and corporate expansion activities. From 1994 to 1998,
Mr. GriÇth was the President and Chief Executive OÇcer of Tandberg Data, Inc. located in Simi Valley,
California. From 1990 to 1994, Mr. GriÇth was the Vice President of Sales and Marketing for Tandberg Data,
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Inc. From 1987 to 1990, Mr. GriÇth acted as Marketing Manager and Program Manager for the Memory
Products Group of Siemens Information Systems. From 1985 to 1987, Mr. GriÇth was Director of Disk
Operations for Ibis Systems Inc. From 1982 to 1985, Mr. GriÇth acted as a Principle Engineer for Ibis
Systems Inc. Mr. GriÇth received a degree in Mechanical Engineering from California State Polytechnic
University in 1980.
Mark R. Gilmore has been our Vice President of Sales since January of 2002. From August of 1974
through January of 2002, Mr. Gilmore held various positions in Sales, Marketing and Project Management on
a global basis. Most recently Mr. Gilmore was the Worldwide General Manager of OEM Products for the
Document Imaging Division and US National Sales Manager for Imagelink Archive Products. In 1985,
Mr. Gilmore obtained an M.B.A. from Marquette University. In 1972, Mr. Gilmore graduated from Grove
City College where he received a B.A. degree in Accounting.
Robert K. Covey has been our Vice President of Marketing since 1994. From 1986 to 1993 Mr. Covey was
regional manager of ATG Cygnet, an optical disk library Ñrm. From 1982 to 1985, Mr. Covey served as
national sales manager at Micropolis Corporation, a former disk drive manufacturer. Mr. Covey attended
Butler University from 1965 to 1968.

22

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters
Qualstar commenced its initial public oÅering of common stock on June 23, 2000. Qualstar's common
stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Stock Market's National Market (NASDAQ Symbol Ì QBAK). The
following table sets forth the high and low closing sale prices of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ,
during the periods indicated:
Period

Fiscal 2001:
First QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Second Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Third Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fourth Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2002:
First QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Second Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Third Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fourth Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2003:
First QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Second Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Third Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fourth Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Date Range

High

Low

July 1 Ó September 30, 2000
October 1 Ó December 31, 2000
January 1 Ó March 31, 2001
April 1 Ó June 30, 2001

$13.50
$14.75
$ 9.13
$ 8.00

$7.00
$6.00
$5.31
$5.94

July 1 Ó September 30, 2001
October 1 Ó December 31, 2001
January 1 Ó March 31, 2002
April 1 Ó June 30, 2002

$
$
$
$

6.92
6.05
7.61
7.40

$4.45
$4.37
$5.94
$5.58

July 1 Ó September 30, 2002
October 1 Ó December 31, 2002
January 1 Ó March 31, 2003
April 1 Ó June 30, 2003

$
$
$
$

6.21
5.78
5.51
6.25

$4.21
$3.65
$3.89
$4.04

There were approximately 54 owners of record of Qualstar's common stock as of September 19, 2003.
Qualstar has declared no cash dividends during the periods reported. Qualstar does not anticipate paying
cash dividends in the foreseeable future, but intends to retain any future earnings for reinvestment in its
business. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at discretion of our Board of Directors and
will be dependent upon Qualstar's Ñnancial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, terms of any
debt instruments then in eÅect and such other factors as our Board of Directors may deem relevant at the
time.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following selected Ñnancial data is qualiÑed in its entirety by and should be read in conjunction with
""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations'' and the Ñnancial
statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this 10-K. Our historical Ñnancial results are not
necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any future period.
1999

Years Ended June 30,
2000
2001
2002
(In thousands, expect per share amounts)

2003

Statements of Income Data:
Net revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cost of goods soldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$29,698
19,058

$49,352
30,915

$51,572
33,216

$37,631
23,753

$33,557
21,171

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

10,640

18,437

18,356

13,878

12,386

Operating expenses:
Research and development ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Sales and marketing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
General and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

925
1,941
1,267

1,027
2,643
2,057

1,279
3,399
3,301

2,136
3,048
5,222

3,994
3,834
4,428

Total operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

4,133

5,727

7,979

10,406

12,256

Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Investment income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Impairment of investment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

6,507
41
Ì

12,710
54
Ì

10,377
1,225
(1,050)

3,472
1,133
Ì

130
693
Ì

Income before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

6,548
2,562

12,764
4,968

10,552
3,824

4,605
1,845

823
274

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 3,986

$ 7,796

$ 6,728

$ 2,760

$

549

Earnings per share:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

0.60

$

1.10

$

0.54

$

0.22

$

0.04

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

0.42

$

0.80

$

0.53

$

0.22

$

0.04

Shares used to compute earnings per share:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

6,629

7,119

12,372

12,475

12,579

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

9,467

9,742

12,668

12,664

12,666

1999

2000

June 30,
2001
(In thousands)

2002

2003

$ 2,134
Ì
11,205
12,950
Ì
11,640

$ 3,081
15,895
33,620
37,984
Ì
35,032

$11,509
15,578
43,382
47,878
Ì
44,689

$ 4,859
25,987
46,507
50,758
Ì
47,973

$ 6,236
29,857
47,191
52,096
Ì
48,868

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Marketable securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Working capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our Ñnancial statements and
notes thereto.
Overview
We design, develop, manufacture and sell automated magnetic tape libraries used to store, retrieve and
manage electronic data primarily in network computing environments. We oÅer tape libraries for multiple tape
drive technologies, including those using Advanced Intelligent Tape (AIT), Super Advanced Intelligent Tape
(SAIT), Super Digital Linear Tape (SDLT), and Linear Tape Open (LTO) tape drives and media.
Many enterprises now routinely manage very large databases, in addition to storing information on local
desktop computers. This, coupled with the growth in the amount of data from new sources and applications, is
increasing the need for managing and storing data eÇciently. Anticipating the increased demand for large
libraries, we have developed a family of tape libraries over the last eight years spanning a broad range of tape
formats, prices, capacity and performance. Our product mix has changed over the last six Ñscal years as we
introduced new products to address additional tape formats and changing customer preferences. For example,
during Ñscal year 2003, we introduced a new series of rack-mount libraries compatible with the popular LTO
and SDLT technologies. Furthermore, we were the Ñrst manufacturer to introduce tape libraries compatible
with the new SAIT technology. We expect our product mix to continue to evolve in the future in response to
emerging tape technologies and changing customer preferences.
We have developed a network of value added resellers who specialize in delivering storage solutions to
end users that are installed complete and ready to operate. End users of our products range from small
businesses requiring simple automated backup solutions to large organizations needing complex storage
management solutions. We also sell our products to original equipment manufacturers who incorporate our
products with theirs, which they typically sell as a complete system or solution. We assist our customers with
marketing and technical support.
Our international sales eÅorts are currently directed from our headquarters in Simi Valley, California.
European sales are coordinated through our European sales oÇce in the United Kingdom. We intend to
continue to develop our international markets and create additional outlets for our products. All of our
international sales are denominated in U.S. dollars. Revenues from customers outside of North America were
$13.9 million, or 26.9% of revenues in Ñscal 2001, $12.1 million, or 32.2% of revenues in Ñscal 2002, and
$9.8 million, or 29.4% of revenues in Ñscal 2003.
We also design, develop, manufacture and sell ultra small high-eÇciency open-frame switching power
supplies for original equipment manufacturers of telecommunications equipment, servers, routers, switches,
RAID's, and other processor based equipment. Our power supplies are sold under the N2Power brand name
through outside sales representatives and distributors. Revenues in Ñscal 2003 were not signiÑcant and totaled
approximately $216,000.
Net revenues include revenues from the sale of tape libraries, library tape drives, storage media, and
ancillary products. Ancillary revenues include service, repair, and on-site service warranties, net of the cost of
any third party service contracts, and 9-track tape drives, which we announced as end-of-life in Ñscal year
2002, and power supplies. Automated tape libraries and related products, such as tape drives and tape media,
represented approximately 89.3% of revenues in Ñscal 2001, 82.9% of revenues in Ñscal 2002, and 79.8% of
revenues in Ñscal 2003. Sales of services and other products accounted for the balance of our revenues.
Gross margins depend on several factors, including the cost of manufacturing, product mix, customer
demand and the level of competition. Larger tape libraries provide higher gross margins than do smaller tape
libraries primarily because of strong customer demand and less competition. Our gross margins have beneÑted
from a shift in demand towards our larger tape libraries. However, some customers of larger tape libraries
desire signiÑcant quantities of tape media. Sales of large quantities of tape media partially oÅset the higher
gross margins associated with sales of larger tape libraries because tape media provide signiÑcantly lower gross
margins than tape libraries. From time to time, we have been unable to meet demand for tape media because
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of supply constraints. We may experience higher gross margins in quarters when sales of tape media decrease
due to supply constraints and lower gross margins in quarters when sales of tape media increase due to greater
availability. We expect that our market's growth in revenues and attractive gross margins will encourage new
competitors to enter our marketplace, which may aÅect our gross margins.
Research and development activities include the design and development of new products, as well as
enhancements to existing products. Our core group of engineers, located in Simi Valley, California, continues
to work on new products and enhancements to our existing products. Our Advanced Development Group,
located in Boulder, Colorado, will continue work on a new generation of automated tape libraries. We expect
research and development expenses to hold steady or slightly increase in the next Ñscal year as the Advanced
Development Group, which was expanding its staÅ and level of activity during Ñscal 2003, should be operating
at its target level throughout Ñscal 2004.
We expect selling, general and administrative expenses to increase slightly in Ñscal 2003, due to the
increasing cost of employee beneÑts, the increasing costs of being a public company, and legal fees associated
with our defense of the Raytheon lawsuit.
We recorded deferred compensation of approximately $1.7 million in the third quarter of Ñscal 2000,
representing the diÅerence between the exercise price of options and restricted stock awards granted to
employees and directors during Ñscal 2000 and the deemed fair value for accounting purposes of our common
stock on the grant dates. Amortization of the deferred compensation was approximately $437,000 during Ñscal
2001, $430,000 during Ñscal 2002, and $301,000 in Ñscal 2003, which was recorded as general and
administrative expenses in the statements of income. Total deferred compensation amortization will be
approximately $140,000 in Ñscal 2004.
Results of Operations
The following table reÖects, as a percentage of net revenues, statements of income data for the periods
indicated:
Years Ended June 30,
2001
2002
2003

Net revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cost of goods soldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
64.4
63.1
63.1

Gross margin ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses:
Research and development ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Sales and marketing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
General and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

35.6

36.9

36.9

2.5
6.6
6.4

5.7
8.1
13.9

11.9
11.4
13.2

Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Investment income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Impairment of investment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

20.1
2.4
(2.0)

9.2
3.0
Ì

0.4
2.0
Ì

Income before provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

20.5
7.4

12.2
4.9

2.4
0.8

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

13.1%

7.3%

1.6%

Fiscal 2003 Compared to Fiscal 2002
Net Revenues. Revenues are recognized upon shipment of the product to the customer, less estimated
returns, for which provision is made at the time of the sale. Revenues for the year ended June 30, 2003 were
$33.6 million, a decrease of 10.8% compared to net revenues of $37.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2002.
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The decrease in revenues was primarily due to an overall decline in the demand for our tape libraries
using AIT tape technology and the signiÑcant decline in revenues from two of our largest customers. Revenues
from our TLS tape library series are dominated by the AIT tape format. Due to competing factors in the
marketplace, some customers migrated towards higher density tape formats, which were introduced in Ñscal
2003, such as LTO2, rather than choosing AIT. Partially oÅsetting the decline in revenues from our AIT tape
libraries, were revenues generated from the introduction of new models in the RLS Series of rack-mountable
tape libraries.
Revenues from tape libraries and related media decreased to $26.8 million, or 79.8% of revenues, in the
year ended June 30, 2003 from $31.2 million, or 82.9% of revenues, in the year ended June 30, 2002. Selling
prices of our libraries remained relatively stable during Ñscal 2003. Average selling prices of library tape drives
increased during Ñscal 2003 due to a change in product mix. During the year, we sold more half-inch tape
drives as a percentage of total tape drives sold. In general, half-inch tape drives are sold at a higher price than
8mm tape drives. Average selling prices of half-inch tape drives increased during the year due to the
introduction of LTO2 tape format.
Gross ProÑt. Gross proÑt was $12.4 million, or 36.9% of revenues, for the year ended June 30, 2003,
compared to $13.9 million, or 36.9% of revenues, for Ñscal 2002. Cost of goods sold consists primarily of direct
labor, purchased parts, depreciation of plant and equipment, rent, utilities, and packaging costs. During Ñscal
year 2003, we were able to keep our margins stable.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist of engineering salaries,
beneÑts, purchased parts and supplies used in development activities. Research and development expenses for
the year ended June 30, 2003 increased 87.0% to $4.0 million as compared to $2.1 million for the year ended
June 30, 2002. This increase was due primarily to costs associated in bringing our new rack-mount libraries to
market, the continuing operating activities of our Advanced Development Group in Boulder, Colorado, and to
the development of higher watt power supplies. The Advanced Development Group was established in late
Ñscal 2002 to design and develop our next generation of tape libraries. During Ñscal 2003, the Advance
Development Group became fully staÅed. We anticipate research and development costs to increase slightly in
Ñscal 2004.
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of employee salaries, beneÑts,
sales commissions, trade show costs, advertising, technical support and travel related expenses. Sales and
marketing expenses increased by 25.8% to $3.8 million, or 11.4% of revenues for the year ended June 30, 2003,
as compared to $3.0 million, or 8.1% of revenues, for the year ended June 30, 2002. This increase was
primarily due to higher advertising and promotional costs for the launch of the RLS product line and a
decrease in marketing development funds from our key suppliers.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses include employee salaries and
beneÑts, deferred compensation related to stock options and restricted stock awards, provision for doubtful
accounts, and professional service fees. General and administrative expenses decreased to $4.4 million for
Ñscal 2003 as compared to $5.2 million for Ñscal 2002. As a percentage of revenues, general and administrative
expenses decreased to 13.2% for the year ended June 30, 2003 as compared to 13.9% for the year ended
June 30, 2002. The decrease in general and administrative expenses was due primarily to the fact that Ñscal
2002 included an increase in the reserve for doubtful accounts of $1.6 million, while no similar reserve was
established in Ñscal 2003. Partially oÅsetting the decrease in general and administrative expenses were higher
expenses for professional services and legal fees associated with our defense of the Raytheon lawsuit.
Investment income. Investment income decreased to $693,000 in the year ended June 30, 2003 as
compared to $1.1 million in the year ended June 30, 2002. This decrease was due primarily to an overall shift
in our investment strategy, which places more emphasis on principal preservation than it does on income
generation. In addition to this, the economy continues to experience low interest rates, which has had a
negative impact on our portfolio's overall performance.
Provision for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes was $274,000, or 33.3% of pre-tax income,
for Ñscal 2003 compared to $1.8 million, or 40.1% of pre-tax income, for Ñscal 2002. The decrease in the
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percentage of the provision for income taxes to pre-tax income was primarily due to allocation changes made
to our investment portfolio to be more heavily weighted towards non-taxable investment income.
Fiscal 2002 Compared to Fiscal 2001
Net Revenues. Revenues are recognized upon shipment of the product to the customer, less estimated
returns, for which provision is made at the time of the sale. Revenues for the year ended June 30, 2002 were
$37.6 million, a decrease of 27.0% compared to net revenues of $51.6 million for the year ended June 30, 2001.
The decrease in revenues was primarily due to an overall decline in the market for tape libraries and the
decline of revenue from two major customers. Revenues from tape libraries and related media decreased to
$31.2 million, or 82.9% of revenues, in the year ended June 30, 2002 from $46.0 million, or 89.3% of revenues,
in the year ended June 30, 2001. Selling prices of our libraries remained relatively stable during Ñscal 2002.
However, selling prices of 8mm library tape drives declined during Ñscal 2002, whereas half-inch library tape
drives increased in overall selling price. The decline in selling prices of 8mm tape drives was attributable to
reduced costs for these drives from our suppliers, which were passed through to our customers in the form of
lower selling prices. Half-inch library tape drives increased in selling price due to introduction of the new,
more expensive LTO and SDLT tape drives.
Gross ProÑt. Gross proÑt was $13.9 million, or 36.9% of revenues, for the year ended June 30, 2002,
compared to $18.4 million, or 35.6% of revenues, for Ñscal 2001. Cost of goods sold consists primarily of direct
labor, purchased parts, depreciation of plant and equipment, rent, utilities, and packaging costs. The increase
in gross margin as a percentage of revenues was primarily caused by product mix.
Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist of engineering salaries,
beneÑts, purchased parts and supplies used in development activities. Research and development expenses for
the year ended June 30, 2002 increased 67.0% to $2.1 million as compared to $1.3 million for the year ended
June 30, 2001. This increase was due primarily to costs associated in bringing our new rack-mount library to
market. In addition, we opened an Advanced Development oÇce in Boulder, Colorado. Although not fully
operational at June 30, 2002, there were nominal costs incurred in establishing this research and development
facility during Ñscal 2002.
Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of employee salaries, beneÑts,
sales commissions, trade show costs, advertising, technical support and travel related expenses. Sales and
marketing expenses decreased 10.3% to $3.0 million, or 8.1% of revenues for the year ended June 30, 2002, as
compared to $3.4 million, or 6.6% of revenues, for the year ended June 30, 2001. This decrease was due
primarily to the decrease of commissions paid to our sales force as a result of lower sales.
General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses include employee salaries and
beneÑts, deferred compensation related to stock options and restricted stock awards, provision for doubtful
accounts, and professional service fees. General and administrative expenses increased to $5.2 million for Ñscal
2002 as compared to $3.3 million for Ñscal 2001. As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative
expenses increased to 13.9% for the year ended June 30, 2002 as compared to 6.4% for the year ended June 30,
2001. The increase in general and administrative expenses was caused primarily by an increase in our
allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $1.6 million primarily reÖecting a single, insolvent customer.
Investment income. Investment income decreased to $1.1 million in the year ended June 30, 2002 as
compared to $1.2 in the year ended June 30, 2001. This decrease was due to primarily to a poor performing
economy in which overall interest rates were low partially oÅset by an increase in funds available for
investment.
Provision for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes was $1.8 million, or 40.1% of pre-tax
income, for Ñscal 2002 compared to $3.8 million, or 36.2% of pre-tax income, for Ñscal 2001. The increase in
the percentage of the provision for income taxes to pre-tax income was primarily due to a higher than
anticipated state apportionment factor for California income taxes.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Historically, we have funded our capital requirements with cash provided by operations. Cash provided by
operating activities were $6.6 million in Ñscal 2001, $4.1 million in Ñscal 2002, and $6.0 million in Ñscal 2003.
In Ñscal 2001 and 2002, operating cash was provided primarily by net income. In Ñscal 2003, operating cash
was primarily provided by reductions in accounts receivable and inventory. In Ñscal 2001, cash Öow from
operating activities was primarily used to fund increases in inventories and the purchase of marketable
securities. In Ñscal 2002 and 2003, cash Öow from operating activities was primarily used to purchase
marketable securities.
Cash used in investing activities was $609,000 in Ñscal 2001, $11.0 million in Ñscal 2002, and $4.7 million
in Ñscal 2003. Cash used in investing activities for Ñscal 2001, 2002, and 2003 related primarily to purchases of
marketable securities as well as equipment and leasehold improvements.
On July 11, 2002, we purchased the assets and intellectual property of N2Power, Incorporated, a privately
held company that designs and produces small and eÇcient open-frame switching power supplies. In
consideration for the assets and intellectual properties, we paid $250,000, in cash, and incurred additional
acquisition costs of $38,000.
Our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2003 are as follows (in thousands):
Due in
2004

Due in 2005
and 2006

Due in 2007
and 2008

Due
Thereafter

Total

Operating lease obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$549

$1,143

$1,144

$1,499

$4,335

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$549

$1,143

$1,144

$1,499

$4,335

As of June 30, 2003, we had $6.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and $29.9 million in marketable
securities. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and anticipated cash Öows from our
operating activities, plus funds available from the sale of our marketable securities, will be suÇcient to fund
our working capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months. We may utilize cash to
invest in businesses, products or technologies that we believe are strategic. We regularly evaluate other
companies and technologies for possible investment by us. In addition, we have made and expect to make
investments in companies with whom we have identiÑed potential synergies. However, we have no present
commitments or agreements with respect to any material acquisition of other businesses or technologies.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our Ñnancial condition and results of operations is based upon our Ñnancial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principals generally accepted in the
United States. The preparation of these Ñnancial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that
aÅect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to customer
promotional oÅers, sales returns, bad debts, inventories, warranty costs, investments, and income taxes. We
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may diÅer from these
estimates under diÅerent assumptions or conditions.
We believe the following critical accounting policies aÅect our more signiÑcant judgments and estimates
used in the preparation of our consolidated Ñnancial statements.
Revenue is recognized upon shipment of products to our customers. Title and risk of loss transfer to the
customer when the product leaves our shipping dock in Simi Valley, California. In general, these customers
are allowed to return the product, free of penalty, within 30 days of shipment if the product does not meet the
required speciÑcations. After 30 days, customers generally are not allowed to return product to us without a
restocking fee. We record an allowance for estimated sales returns based on past experience and current
29

knowledge of our customer base. Our experience has been such that only a very small percentage of libraries
are ever returned. Should our experience change, however, we may require additional allowances for sales
returns.
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our
customers to make required payments. If the Ñnancial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting
in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. In addition, if the
Ñnancial condition of our customers for which we have already established allowances were to improve, then
their ability to make payments to us would be less impaired, potentially making such allowances unnecessary.
We write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the
diÅerence between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future
demand and market conditions. If technology changes more rapidly than expected, or market conditions
become less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs may be
required. Likewise, if technology changes more slowly than expected, or market conditions become more
favorable than those projected by management, inventory write-downs may become unnecessary.
We provide for the estimated cost of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized. We engage in
extensive product quality programs and processes, including actively monitoring and evaluation of product
failure rates, material usage and estimation of service delivery costs incurred in correcting a product failure.
However, should actual product failure rates, material usage, or service delivery costs diÅer from our
estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be required.
We do not currently record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets because we believe
that the assets are more likely than not to be realized. While we have considered future taxable income and
ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for a valuation allowance, in the
event we were to determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax asset in the
future, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be charged to income in the period such determination
was made.
Item 7A.

Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We develop products in the United States and sell them worldwide. As a result, our Ñnancial results could
be aÅected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic conditions in
foreign markets. As all sales are currently made in U.S. dollars, a strengthening of the dollar could make our
products less competitive in foreign markets. Our interest income is sensitive to changes in the general level of
U.S. interest rates, particularly since the majority of our investments are in short-term instruments. We have
no outstanding debt nor do we utilize derivative Ñnancial instruments. Therefore, no quantitative tabular
disclosures are required.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
See Index to Financial Statements at page F-1.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive OÇcer and our Chief Financial OÇcer, of the eÅectiveness of the design and
operation of Qualstar's disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2003, pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief
Financial OÇcer concluded that those disclosure controls and procedures were adequate to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in this report is recorded, processed, summarized and reported in a timely
basis.

PART III
The information called for by Items 10, 11, 12 and 13 of Part III of Form 10-K (except information as to
Qualstar's executive oÇcers, which information follows Item 4 in Part I of this Report) will be included in
Qualstar's Proxy Statement which management intends to Ñle with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days after the close of its Ñscal year ended June 30, 2003, and is hereby incorporated by reference
to such Proxy Statement.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The disclosure requirements of this Item are not applicable to Qualstar until the Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the Ñscal year ending June 30, 2004.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financials Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
(a)(1) The following documents are Ñled as part of this Report:
Consolidated Financial Statements-See Index to Financial Statements in Item 8 commencing at F-1
of this Report.
(2) Supplemental Schedule:
Schedule II Ì Valuation and Qualifying Accounts; Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present in amounts suÇcient to
require submission of the schedule, or because the required information is included in the consolidated
Ñnancial statements or notes thereto.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K. On May 1, 2003, Qualstar Ñled a report on Form 8-K to furnish information
pursuant to Item 12 relating to Qualstar's results of operations for the Ñscal third quarter and nine months
ended March 31, 2003.
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(c) Exhibits:
Exhibit
No.

3.1(1)
3.2(1)
10.1(1)*
10.2(1)
10.3(2)
21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Description

Restated Articles of Incorporation.
Amended and Restated Bylaws.
1998 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.
Form of IndemniÑcation Agreement.
Lease agreement between Strategic Performance Fund-II, Inc. and Qualstar Corporation, dated
September 20, 2000.
Subsidiaries of Qualstar Corporation
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.
CertiÑcation of Principal Executive OÇcer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
CertiÑcation of Principal Financial OÇcer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
CertiÑcation of Principal Executive OÇcer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
CertiÑcation of Principal Financial OÇcer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.

(1) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibits to Qualstar's registration statement on Form S-1
(Commission File No. 333-96009), declared eÅective by the Commission on June 22, 2000.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibit to Qualstar's Report on Form 10-Q for the Ñscal
quarter ended September 30, 2000.
*

Each of these exhibits constitutes a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement required to
be Ñled as an exhibit to this report pursuant to Item 15(c) of this report.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Page

Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Balance Sheets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Statements of Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Consolidated Statements of Cash FlowsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

F-1

F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6
F-7

REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Qualstar Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Qualstar Corporation as of June 30,
2002 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash Öows for
each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2003. Our audits also included the Ñnancial statement
schedule listed at the index in Item 15(a). These Ñnancial statements and schedule are the responsibility of
the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Ñnancial statements and
schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
Ñnancial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
Ñnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the Ñnancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated Ñnancial position of Qualstar Corporation at June 30, 2002 and 2003, and the consolidated results
of its operations and its cash Öows for the three years in the period ended June 30, 2003, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related Ñnancial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic Ñnancial statements taken as a whole, presents
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/
Woodland Hills, California
August 13, 2003
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ERNST & YOUNG LLP

QUALSTAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
June 30,
2002
2003
(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Marketable securitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,100 in 2002 and $260 in 2003.ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Inventories ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Prepaid income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 4,859
25,986
6,695
9,652
355
148
1,501

$ 6,236
29,857
4,535
7,091
234
1,336
939

Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

49,196

50,228

Property and equipment, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

1,324
238

1,557
311

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$50,758

$52,096

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued payroll and related liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other accrued liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 1,590
308
693
98

$ 1,136
432
1,469
Ì

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

2,689

3,037

Deferred income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock, no par value; 5,000 shares authorized; no shares issued ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock, no par value; 50,000 shares authorized, 12,656 and 12,640 shares
issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2002 and 2003, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Notes from directors ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accumulated other comprehensive income(loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Retained earningsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

96

191

Ì

Ì

20,751
(631)
(387)
(31)
28,271

20,366
(140)
(156)
(22)
28,820

Total shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

47,973

48,868

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$50,758

$52,096

See accompanying notes
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
2001

Years Ended June 30,
2002
2003
(In thousands, except
per share amounts)

Net revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cost of goods soldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$51,572
33,216

$37,631
23,753

$33,557
21,171

Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

18,356

13,878

12,386

Operating expenses:
Research and development ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Sales and marketing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
General and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

1,279
3,399
3,301

2,136
3,048
5,222

3,994
3,834
4,428

Total operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

7,979

10,406

12,256

Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Investment income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Impairment of investment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

10,377
1,225
(1,050)

3,472
1,133
Ì

130
693
Ì

Income before provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

10,552
3,824

4,605
1,845

823
274

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 6,728

$ 2,760

$

549

Earnings per share:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

0.54

$

0.22

$

0.04

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

0.53

$

0.22

$

0.04

Shares used to compute earnings per share:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

12,372

12,475

12,579

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

12,668

12,664

12,666

See accompanying notes
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QUALSTAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balances at July 1, 2000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,164 $18,400
Exercise of stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Issuance of common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of deferred compensation
Forfeiture of unvested stock options ÏÏÏÏ
Accrued interest on directors' notes ÏÏÏÏ
Principal payments on directors' notes ÏÏ
Comprehensive income:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Unrealized gains on investments ÏÏÏÏÏ

62
375
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

43
2,284
Ì
(36)
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Notes
Deferred
From
Compensation Directors
(In thousands)

$(1,534)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Retained
Earnings

$(617)

Ì

Ì
Ì
437
36
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
(35)
140

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
$ 60

6,728
Ì

$18,783 $35,032

Comprehensive income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
20,691

(1,061)

6,728
60

(512)

60

25,511
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

35
430
25
(27)
152

2,760
Ì

2,760
(91)

55
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

35
Ì
25
Ì
Ì

Ì
430
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì
(27)
152

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
(91)

Comprehensive income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

44,689

2,669

Balances at June 30, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,656
Exercise of stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Forfeiture of unvested stock options ÏÏÏÏ
Retirement of shares pursuant to stock
repurchase ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of deferred compensation
Accrued interest on directors' notes ÏÏÏÏ
Principal and interest payments on
directors' notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Comprehensive income:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Unrealized gains on investments ÏÏÏÏÏ

43
2,284
437
Ì
(35)
140

6,788

Balances at June 30, 2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,601
Exercise of stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of deferred compensation
Settlement of IPO expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued interest on directors' notes ÏÏÏÏ
Principal payments on directors' notes ÏÏ
Comprehensive income:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Unrealized losses on investmentsÏÏÏÏÏ

Total

20,751

(631)

(387)

(31)

28,271

47,973

60
Ì

149
(190)

Ì
190

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

149
Ì

(76)
Ì
Ì

(344)
Ì
Ì

Ì
301
Ì

Ì
Ì
(17)

Ì
Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì
Ì

(344)
301
(17)

Ì

Ì

Ì

248

Ì

Ì

248

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
Ì

Ì
9

549
Ì

549
9

Comprehensive income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

558

Balances at June 30, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,640 $20,366

$ (140)

See accompanying notes
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$(156)

$(22)

$28,820 $48,868

QUALSTAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
2001

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Provision for bad debts and returns ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of deferred compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Impairment of investment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued interest on directors' notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Inventories ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Prepaid expenses and other assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Prepaid income taxes and income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued payroll and related liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other accrued liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of equipment and leasehold improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Purchases of marketable securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from the sale of marketable securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Purchase of assets of N2 Power, Incorporated ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net cash used in investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Principal and interest payments on directors' notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of oÅering costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from exercise of stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Repurchase of common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Years Ended June 30,
2002
2003
(In thousands)

$ 6,728

$

2,760

$

549

237
(344)
118
437
1,050
(35)

272
(469)
1,679
430
Ì
(27)

380
657
(53)
301
Ì
(17)

779
(1,975)
(455)
(162)
33
(166)
325

(1,995)
980
93
877
(784)
81
235

2,213
2,609
236
(1,167)
(454)
124
657

6,570

4,132

6,035

(986)
(7,232)
7,609
Ì

(470)
(19,435)
8,936
Ì

(561)
(34,375)
30,513
(288)

(609)

(10,969)

(4,711)

140
2,284
43
Ì

152
Ì
35
Ì

248
Ì
149
(344)

Net cash provided by Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
NET INCREASE(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIODÏÏ

2,467

187

53

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIODÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$11,509

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES:
Income taxes paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 4,330

See accompanying notes
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8,428
3,081

(6,650)
11,509

1,377
4,859

$

4,859

6,236

$

1,436

$

904

QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Summary of SigniÑcant Accounting Policies
Business

Qualstar Corporation (""Qualstar'') was incorporated in California in 1984 to develop and manufacture
IBM compatible 9-track reel-to-reel tape drives for the personal computer and workstation marketplaces.
Since 1995, Qualstar has focused its eÅorts on designing, developing, manufacturing and selling automated
magnetic tape libraries used to store, retrieve and manage electronic data primarily in the network computing
environment. Tape libraries consist of high-performance cartridge tape drives, storage arrays of tape cartridges
and robotics to move the tape cartridges from their storage locations to the tape drives under software control.
Qualstar's libraries provide storage solutions for organizations requiring backup, recovery, and archival storage
of critical electronic information. Qualstar's tape libraries are compatible with commonly used network
operating systems, including UNIX, Windows NT, NetWare, and Linux and a wide range of storage
management software. Qualstar oÅers tape libraries for multiple tape drive technologies, including those using
Linear Tape Open, Advanced Intelligent Tape, Super Digital Linear Tape, and Super Advanced Intelligent
Tape.
Principles in Consolidation
The consolidated Ñnancial statements include the accounts and operations of Qualstar and its wholly
owned subsidiary. All signiÑcant intercompany accounts have been eliminated.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Qualstar classiÑes as cash equivalents only cash and those investments that are short term, highly liquid,
readily convertible to cash, and so near their maturity that they present insigniÑcant risk of changes in value
because of changes in interest rates.
Concentration of Credit Risk, Other Risks and SigniÑcant Customers
Qualstar sells its products primarily through a variety of market channels including original equipment
manufacturers (OEM) and value added resellers (VAR) located worldwide. Ongoing credit evaluations of
customers' Ñnancial condition are performed by Qualstar and generally collateral is not required. Potential
uncollectable accounts have been provided for in the Ñnancial statements.
Revenue to customers outside of North America represented 26.9% of net revenues in 2001, 32.2% of net
revenues in 2002 and 29.4% of revenues in 2003. Revenues from Qualstar's two largest customers were 29.2%,
17.6%, and 15.4% for the years ended June 30, 2001, 2002, and 2003, respectively. At June 30, 2002 and 2003,
the two largest customer's accounts receivable, net of speciÑc allowances, totaled 8.5% and 30.1% of total
accounts receivable, respectively.
Marketable Securities
Marketable securities consist primarily of high-quality U.S. corporate securities and U.S. federal
government and state government debt securities. These securities are classiÑed in one of three categories:
trading, available-for-sale, or held-to-maturity. Trading securities are bought and held principally for the
purpose of selling them in the near term. Held-to-maturity securities are those securities which Qualstar has
the ability and intent to hold until maturity. All other securities not included in trading or held-to-maturity are
classiÑed as available-for-sale. All of Qualstar's marketable securities were classiÑed as available-for-sale at
June 30, 2002 and 2003.
Available-for-sale securities are recorded at market value. Unrealized holding gains and losses, net of the
related income tax eÅect, on available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and are reported as a
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)
separate component of shareholders' equity until realized. Dividend and interest income are recognized when
earned. Realized gains and losses for securities classiÑed as available-for-sale are included in earnings when
the underlying securities are sold and are derived using the speciÑc identiÑcation method for determining the
cost of securities sold.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (Ñrst-in, Ñrst-out basis) or market.
Suppliers
Sales and costs of goods sold related to products purchased from one supplier totaled approximately
77.1% and 71.6%, respectively, of total sales and cost of goods sold for the year ended June 30, 2001. Sales and
costs of goods sold related to products purchased from one large supplier totaled approximately 65.3% and
54.2%, respectively, of total sales and cost of goods sold for the year ended June 30, 2002. Sales and costs of
goods sold related to products purchased from one supplier totaled approximately 56.2% and 57.3%,
respectively, of total sales and cost of goods sold for the year ended June 30, 2003.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (3 to
7 years) of the individual assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the estimated useful lives, or the
term of the related leases, whichever is shorter, using the straight-line method.
Investment in Common Stock
In November 1999, Qualstar purchased an approximate 1% interest in Chaparral Network Storage, Inc.
(Chaparral) for an aggregate purchase price of $1,050,000. This investment is accounted for under the cost
method. Chaparral designs and manufactures RAID controllers and intelligent storage routers for tape library
applications.
During the fourth quarter of Ñscal year 2001, management determined the carrying value of the
investment in Chaparral exceeded its net realizable value as a result of rapid changes in technology and the
availability of capital for further development of Chaparral's family of products. Accordingly, management
determined an allowance in the amount of $1,050,000 was necessary to reduce the carrying value of the
investment in Chaparral to its estimated net realizable value. The related charge is included in the statement
of income as an impairment of investment.
Long-Lived Assets
Qualstar reviews for the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying amount of any asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized
when the estimated undiscounted future cash Öows expected to result from the use of the asset and its
eventual disposition is less than the carrying amount. If an impairment is indicated, the amount of the loss to
be recorded is based upon an estimate of the diÅerence between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
asset. Fair value is based upon discounted cash Öows expected to result from the use of the asset and its
eventual disposition and other valuation methods. Qualstar has identiÑed no impairment losses of long-lived
assets during the periods presented.
Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized upon shipment of the product to the customer and when collectibility is
reasonably assured, less estimated returns for which provisions are made at the time of sale. The provision for
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estimated returns is made based on known claims and estimates of additional returns based on historical data.
Revenues from technical support services and other services are recognized at the time the services are
performed.
Shipping and Handling Costs
Qualstar generally records all charges for outbound shipping and handling as revenue. All inbound
shipping and fulÑllment costs are classiÑed as costs of goods sold.
Warranty Costs
Qualstar generally provides warranties for its products ranging from one to three years. With respect to
drives and tapes used in Qualstar's products, but manufactured by a third party, Qualstar passes on to the
customer the warranty on such drives and tapes provided by the manufacturer. A provision for costs related to
warranty expense is recorded when revenue is recognized, which is estimated based on historical warranty
costs incurred.
In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 45
(FIN 45), ""Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of the Indebtedness of Others,'' which clariÑes the requirements of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 5, ""Accounting for Contingencies,'' relating to a guarantor's accounting
for and disclosures for certain guarantees. FIN 45 requires enhanced disclosures, among other things, for
certain guarantees, including warranty accruals. Qualstar does not issue third party guarantees, as deÑned, and
therefore only the disclosure provisions of FIN 45 apply. Qualstar adopted FIN 45 for the year ended June 30,
2003, and the adoption has had no impact on Qualstar's Ñnancial position or results of operations. Additional
disclosures have not been provided as the Company's warranty accrual and warranty expense is not material in
any of the periods presented.
Research and Development
All research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred. These costs consist primarily of
engineering salaries, outside consultant fees, prototype materials and applicable overhead expenses of
personnel directly involved in the design and development of new products.
Advertising
Qualstar expenses all costs of advertising and promotion as incurred. Advertising and promotion expenses
for the years ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003 were $426,000, $211,000, and $984,000, respectively.
Accounting for Stock Based Compensation
Employee stock options are accounted for under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,'' as amended and interpreted, which requires the recognition of
expense when the option price is less than the fair value of the stock at the date of grant. Qualstar generally
awards options for a Ñxed number of shares at an option price equal to the fair value at the date of grant.
Qualstar has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation'' (SFAS 123).
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method in accordance with SFAS 109, ""Accounting for
Income Taxes.'' Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the expected future
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tax consequences of temporary diÅerences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and
liabilities.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is accounted for according to SFAS No. 130, ""Reporting Comprehensive
Income'' (SFAS 130). Comprehensive income includes unrealized gains and losses on debt and equity
securities classiÑed as available-for-sale and included as a component of shareholders' equity.
Earnings Per Share
Qualstar calculates earnings per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, ""Earnings per Share.'' Basic
earnings per share has been computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share has been computed by dividing net income by the weighted
average common shares outstanding plus dilutive securities or other contracts to issue common stock as if
these securities were exercised or converted to common stock.
The following table sets forth the calculation for basic and diluted earnings per share for the periods
indicated:
2001

Year Ended June 30,
2002
2003
(In thousands)

Earnings:
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 6,728

$ 2,760

Shares:
Weighted average shares for basic earnings per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Stock options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

12,372
296

12,475
189

12,579
87

Weighted average shares for diluted earnings per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

12,668

12,664

12,666

$

549

Shares issuable under stock options of 68,000, 68,000 and 152,000 for the years ended June 30, 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively, have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the eÅect
would be antidilutive.
Segment Information
Based on the provisions of SFAS No. 131, ""Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information'' and the manner in which the Chief Operating Decision Maker analyzes the business, Qualstar
has determined that it does not have separately reportable operating segments.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable
and accounts payable approximate their fair values due to the short term nature of these Ñnancial instruments.
Estimates and Assumptions
The preparation of Ñnancial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that aÅect the amounts reported in
the Ñnancial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could diÅer materially from those estimates.
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ReclassiÑcation
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassiÑed to conform to the current year presentation.
2.

Inventories
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2002
2003

Raw materialsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Finished goods ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

3.

$7,980
1,672

$6,454
637

$9,652

$7,091

Property and Equipment
The components of property and equipment are as follows (in thousands):
June 30,
2002

Leasehold improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Furniture and Ñxtures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Machinery and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

541
907
2,050
3,498
(2,174)

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 1,324
4.

2003

$

541
890
2,276
3,707
(2,150)

$ 1,557

Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following (in thousands):
Year Ended June 30,
2001
2002
2003

Current:
Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred:
Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$3,414
754

$1,775
539

$(332)
(51)

4,168

2,314

(383)

(256)
(88)

(391)
(78)

579
78

(344)

(469)

657

$3,824
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The following is a reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to Qualstar's eÅective income tax
rate:
Year Ended June 30,
2001
2002
2003

Statutory federal income tax expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
State income taxes, net of federal income tax beneÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

34.0% 34.0% 34.0%
4.3
4.5
2.6
(2.1)
1.6
(3.3)
36.2% 40.1% 33.3%

The tax eÅect of temporary diÅerences resulted in deferred income tax assets (liabilities) as follows (in
thousands):
June 30,
2002
2003

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for bad debts and returns ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Inventory reserves ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Reserve for Chaparral investment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Capitalized inventory costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
State income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other accruals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total deferred tax assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax liability:
DepreciationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 861
Ì
430
31
140
39

$ 107
130
430
32
Ì
240

1,501

939

(96)
$1,405

(191)
$ 748

No valuation reserve was established at June 30, 2002 and 2003, based on the Company's expectations to
be able to realize the beneÑt from the deferred tax assets.
5.

Preferred Stock

Qualstar's capital structure allows for the Board of Directors to authorize 5,000,000 shares of preferred
stock. The Board of Directors has authority to Ñx the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including
voting rights, of these shares of preferred stock without any future vote or action by the shareholders. At
June 30, 2002 and 2003, there were no outstanding shares of preferred stock.
6.

Stock Option Plans

Qualstar adopted a stock option plan in 1998 (1998 Stock Incentive Plan) under which incentive and
nonqualiÑed stock options could be granted for an aggregate of no more than 270,000 shares of common stock.
During Ñscal 2000, Qualstar amended and restated the 1998 stock option plan to increase the pool of options
and shares of restricted stock that could be granted for an aggregate of no more than 1,215,000 shares of
common stock. Under the terms of the plan, options could be issued at an exercise price of not less than 100%
of the fair market value of common stock as determined by the board of directors (or board appointed
administrator) on the date of grant. If an incentive stock option is granted to an individual owning more than
10% of the total combined voting power of all stock, the exercise price of the option may not be less than 110%
of the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of grant. Options are exercisable in annual
F-12

QUALSTAR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)
installments and terminate as speciÑed in each option agreement, but terminate no later than ten years after
the date of grant.
The following table summarizes all stock option activity (in thousands, except per share amounts):
Stock
Options

Exercise Price
Per Share

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Outstanding at July 1, 2000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
GrantedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cancelled ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

286
84
(62)
(52)

$0.22 - $2.78
9.38
0.22 - 2.78
0.56 - 9.38

$1.60
9.38
0.68
3.46

Outstanding at June 30, 2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
GrantedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cancelled ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

256
248
(55)
(8)

0.22 - 9.38
4.37 - 5.94
0.22 - 2.78
2.78

4.00
5.21
0.63
2.78

Outstanding at June 30, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
GrantedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cancelled ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

441
167
(60)
(68)

0.56
4.23
0.56
2.78

9.38
4.89
2.78
9.38

5.12
4.29
2.48
4.33

Outstanding at June 30, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

480

$2.78 - $9.38

$5.27

Exercise Price Range

$2.78ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
$4.23 - 5.94 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
$9.38ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Options Outstanding at June 30, 2003
Weighted
Number of
Weighted Average
Average
Shares
Remaining
Exercise
Outstanding
Contractual Life
Price

14
414
52

6.5
8.8
7.1

$2.78
$5.21
$9.38

-

Options Exercisable
at June 30, 2003
Weighted
Number of
Average
Shares
Exercise
Exercisable
Price

10
62
34

$2.78
$4.84
$9.38

On January 14, 2000, each of Qualstar's four non-employee directors were granted and purchased
54,000 shares of restricted stock pursuant to the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan at a price of $2.78 per share. Each
director paid for the shares with a promissory note in the amount of $150,000 secured by the purchased shares.
Interest on the notes accrues at the rate of 6.21% and is payable annually. Payments of principal on the notes
are due in four equal annual installments beginning in January 2002. Qualstar, solely at its discretion, has the
right to repurchase each director's restricted shares at the original purchase price upon termination of service
for any reason. Qualstar's repurchase right lapses and the shares vest ratably over four years based upon each
year of service as a director.
Upon issuance of the restricted stock and granting of stock options in January 2000, Qualstar recorded a
deferred compensation charge of $1.7 million related to both the option and restricted stock awards for the
diÅerence between the exercise price and the deemed fair market value for accounting purposes on the date of
the grant. The deferred compensation recorded is being amortized over the four-year vesting period, which
resulted in compensation expense of $437,000 in Ñscal 2001, $430,000 in Ñscal 2002, and $301,000 in Ñscal
2003. During the years ended June 30, 2001 and 2003, approximately 36,000 and 52,000, respectively, of
unvested stock options related to these grants were forfeited. The forfeitures resulted in a decrease in common
stock paid-in-capital and deferred compensation of $36,000 and $190,000 during the years ended June 30,
2001 and 2003, respectively.
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If Qualstar recognized employee stock option-related compensation expense in accordance with
SFAS 123 and used the minimum value method for grants prior to the Company's initial public oÅering and
the Black-Scholes method model afterward for determining the weighted average fair value of options granted,
the Company's net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts
indicated below:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2001
2002
2003

Net income as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Stock-based employee compensation cost included in reported net
income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Pro forma stock-based employee compensation cost under SFAS 123.

$6,728

Pro forma net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$6,607

$2,600

$ 259

Earnings per share:
Basic Ì as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.54

$ 0.22

$0.04

Basic Ì pro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.53

$ 0.21

$0.02

Diluted Ì as reportedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.53

$ 0.22

$0.04

Diluted Ì pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.52

$ 0.21

$0.02

437
(558)

$2,760
430
(590)

$ 549
301
(591)

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized over the
options' vesting periods. The pro forma eÅect on net income for 2001, 2002 and 2003 is not representative of
the pro forma eÅect on net income or loss in future years because compensation expense in future years will
reÖect the amortization of a larger number of stock options granted in several succeeding years.
In computing the pro forma compensation expense under SFAS 123, a weighted-average fair value of
$5.88 for 2001, $1.97 for 2002, and $4.29 for 2003 stock option grants was estimated at the date of grant using
the minimum value option pricing model before Qualstar's initial public oÅering and the Black Scholes model
afterward with the following assumptions:
2001

Expected dividend yieldÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Risk-free interest rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Expected life of options ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Volatility ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
7.

2002

2003

0%
0%
0%
6.5%
4.5%
2.7%
5 years
5 years
5 years
69.0%
38.0%
54.0%

Purchase of N2 Power

On July 11, 2002, Qualstar acquired the assets and intellectual properties of N2Power, Incorporated, a
privately held company which designs and produces small and eÇcient open-frame switching power supplies.
The consideration for this acquisition amounted to $250,000 plus acquisition expenses of $38,000. The
purchase price was primarily allocated to a patent, in the amount of $240,000, which is being amortized over
5 years. The accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements include the operations of N2Power from the date
of acquisition. At June 30, 2003, accumulated amortization of the patent was $48,000. Amortization expense
for the year ended June 30, 2003 was $48,000. Amortization expense is estimated to be $48,000 in each of
Ñscal years 2004, 2005, 2006, and 2007.
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8.

Commitments

During Ñscal year 2001, Qualstar entered into a new lease agreement for a facility located in Simi Valley,
California. The lease agreement expires in February of 2011, with an early termination option becoming
available in February of 2007. The annual rent for the lease is $468,000, with step-ups ranging from $28,000 to
$34,000 every two years.
During Ñscal year 2002, Qualstar entered into a new lease agreement for a facility located in Boulder,
Colorado. The lease agreement expires in May of 2007 with an initial annual rent in the amount of $55,000,
with a nominal step-up of approximately 2% annually.
Future minimum lease payments under these leases are as follows:
Minimum
Lease Payment

Year Ending

2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
ThereafterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 549,000
562,000
581,000
590,000
554,000
1,499,000
$4,335,000

Rent expense (including equipment rental) for the years ended June 30, 2001, 2002, and 2003, was
$366,000, $594,000, and $589,000 respectively.
9.

Legal Proceedings

On January 10, 2003, Raytheon Company (""Raytheon'') Ñled a complaint in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Texas alleging that Qualstar and eight other named defendants infringe a
patent owned by Raytheon entitled ""Mass Data Storage Library.'' Raytheon Ñled an amended complaint on or
about February 6, 2003, which includes an allegation that Qualstar's tape libraries infringe Raytheon's patent.
The complaint seeks an injunction against all defendants and an unspeciÑed amount of damages. Qualstar
responded to the complaint on March 7, 2003 and denied Raytheon's allegations of infringement. The parties
are currently engaged in pre-trial discovery. A patent claims construction hearing is presently scheduled for
January 14, 2004 and a trial is scheduled for June 7, 2004, both of which will be located in Marshall, Texas.
Qualstar and its legal counsel continue to analyze Raytheon's patent and available defenses to the claims of
infringement. Based on this analysis, Qualstar believes that Raytheon's claims against Qualstar are without
merit and Qualstar intends to vigorously defend against this complaint. Management does not believe the
ultimate outcome of this matter will have a material eÅect on Qualstar's Ñnancial position or results of
operations.
Qualstar may be involved in other litigation or legal matters from time to time in the normal course of
business. However, other than the Raytheon matter discussed above, there are currently no other material
proceedings, pending or, to the knowledge of management, threatened against Qualstar.
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10.

Geographic Information

Information regarding revenues attributable to the Qualstar's primary geographic operating regions is as
follows (in thousands):
2001

Revenues:
North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Europe ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Asia ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Year Ended June 30,
2002
2003

$37,700
9,850
3,754
268

$25,550
9,811
1,758
512

$23,678
7,349
1,837
693

$51,572

$37,631

$33,557

The geographic classiÑcation of revenues is based upon the location to which the product is shipped.
Qualstar does not have any signiÑcant long-lived assets outside of the United States.
11.

BeneÑt Plans

Qualstar has a voluntary deferred compensation plan (the Plan) qualifying for treatment under Internal
Revenue Code Section 401(k). All employees are eligible to participate in the Plan following 90 days of
employment and may contribute up to 25% of their compensation. Qualstar, at the discretion of management,
may make matching contributions in an amount equal to 25% of the Ñrst 6% of compensation contributed by
eligible participants. Qualstar's contributions under the Plan totaled $44,000, $51,000, and $58,000 for the
years ended June 30, 2001, 2002, and 2003 respectively.
12.

Related Party Transactions

Qualstar's outside counsel became a member of its board of directors, in January 2000. During the year
ended June 30, 2001, Qualstar paid $175,000 to the law Ñrm in which the director is a shareholder, of which
$70,000 related to the initial public oÅering with the remainder for general business purposes. During the year
ended June 30, 2002, Qualstar paid $132,000 for general business purposes to the law Ñrm in which the
director is a shareholder. During the year ended June 20, 2003, Qualstar paid $149,000 for general business
purposes to the law Ñrm in which the director is a shareholder.
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13.

Quarterly Results of Operations (unaudited)
Three Months Ended
September 30,
December 31,
March 31,
June 30,
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal 2002:
Net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income(loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net earnings(loss) per share:
BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2003:
Net sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross proÑt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income(loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net earnings(loss) per share:
BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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$8,797
3,330
1,167

$10,031
3,798
1,208

$8,603
3,191
695

$10,200
3,559
(310)

$ 0.09
0.09

$

0.10
0.10

$ 0.06
0.05

$ (0.02)
(0.02)

$8,792
3,178
502

$ 8,408
3,148
79

$8,189
3,104
11

$ 8,168
2,956
(43)

$ 0.04
0.04

$

$ 0.00
0.00

$

0.01
0.01

0.00
0.00

SCHEDULE II
QUALSTAR CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2001, 2002, and 2003
Column A
Description

Year Ended June 30, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Year Ended June 30, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Year Ended June 30, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Column B
Balance at
Beginning
of Period

$ 470,000
$ 470,000
$2,100,000

Column C
Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

$ 118,000
$1,679,000
$ (53,000)

(1) Uncollectible accounts written oÅ, net of recoveries.
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Charged
to Other
Accounts

Column D
Deductions(1)

Column E
Balance at
End of
Period

$Ì
$Ì
$Ì

$ 118,000
$ 49,000
$1,787,000

$ 470,000
$2,100,000
$ 260,000

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

QUALSTAR CORPORATION

By:

/s/

WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais
Chief Executive OÇcer and President

Date: September 26, 2003
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/

WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais

Chief Executive OÇcer, President
and Director
(principal executive oÇcer)

September 26, 2003

/s/

RICHARD A. NELSON
Richard A. Nelson

Vice President, Engineering
Secretary and Director

September 26, 2003

/s/

FREDERIC T. BOYER
Frederic T. Boyer

Vice President and Chief
Financial OÇcer
(principal Ñnancial and
accounting oÇcer)

September 26, 2003

BRUCE E. GLADSTONE
Bruce E. Gladstone

Director

September 26, 2003

TRUDE C. TAYLOR
Trude C. Taylor

Director

September 26, 2003

ROBERT E. RICH
Robert E. Rich

Director

September 26, 2003

ROBERT T. WEBBER
Robert T. Webber

Director

September 26, 2003

/s/

/s/

/s/

/s/
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No.

Description

3.1(1)
3.2(1)
10.1(1)*
10.2(1)
10.3(2)

Restated Articles of Incorporation.
Amended and Restated Bylaws.
1998 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated.
Form of IndemniÑcation Agreement.
Lease agreement between Strategic Performance Fund-II, Inc. and Qualstar Corporation, dated
September 20, 2000.
Subsidiaries of Qualstar Corporation
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors.
CertiÑcation of Principal Executive OÇcer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
CertiÑcation of Principal Financial OÇcer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
CertiÑcation of Principal Executive OÇcer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
CertiÑcation of Principal Financial OÇcer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

(1) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibits to Qualstar's registration statement on Form S-1
(Commission File No. 333-96009), declared eÅective by the Commission on June 22, 2000.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the designated exhibit to Qualstar's Report on Form 10-Q for the Ñscal
quarter ended September 30, 2000.
*

Each of these exhibits constitutes a management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement required to
be Ñled as an exhibit to this report pursuant to Item 15(c) of this report.
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EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF QUALSTAR CORPORATION
Name

Qualstar Sales and Service Corporation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

State of Incorporation

California

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-61080)
pertaining to the Qualstar Corporation 1998 Employee Stock Incentive Plan of our report dated August 13,
2003, with respect to the consolidated Ñnancial statements and schedule of Qualstar Corporation included in
the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended June 30, 2003.

/s/
September 23, 2003
Woodland Hills, CA

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

EXHIBIT 31.1

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
I, William J. Gervais, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Qualstar Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the Ñnancial statements, and other Ñnancial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the Ñnancial condition, results of operations and cash
Öows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as deÑned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) ®Paragraph (b) is omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986©
(c) Evaluated the eÅectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the eÅectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent Ñscal quarter (the registrant's fourth Ñscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially aÅected, or is reasonably likely to
materially aÅect, the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over Ñnancial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All signiÑcant deÑciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over Ñnancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely aÅect the registrant's ability
to record, process, summarize and report Ñnancial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a signiÑcant role in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.

/s/

Date: September 26, 2003

WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais
Chief Executive OÇcer

EXHIBIT 31.2

Section 302 CertiÑcation of Principal Financial OÇcer
I, Frederic T. Boyer, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Qualstar Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the Ñnancial statements, and other Ñnancial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the Ñnancial condition, results of operations and cash
Öows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as deÑned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) ®Paragraph (b) is omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986©
(c) Evaluated the eÅectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the eÅectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent Ñscal quarter (the registrant's fourth Ñscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially aÅected, or is reasonably likely to
materially aÅect, the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting; and
5. The registrant's other certifying oÇcer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over Ñnancial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee
of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All signiÑcant deÑciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over Ñnancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely aÅect the registrant's ability
to record, process, summarize and report Ñnancial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a signiÑcant role in the registrant's internal control over Ñnancial reporting.

/s/

Date: September 26, 2003

FREDERIC T. BOYER
Frederic T. Boyer,
Chief Financial OÇcer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CertiÑcation of Principal Executive OÇcer pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, William J. Gervais, Chief Executive OÇcer of Qualstar Corporation (the ""Company''), certify,
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the Ñscal year ended June 30, 2003 (the
""Report'') fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the Ñnancial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/

Dated: September 26, 2003

WILLIAM J. GERVAIS
William J. Gervais
Chief Executive OÇcer

EXHIBIT 32.2
CertiÑcation of Principal Financial OÇcer pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Frederic T. Boyer, Chief Financial OÇcer of Qualstar Corporation (the ""Company''), certify, pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the Ñscal year ended June 30, 2003 (the
""Report'') fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the Ñnancial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/

Date: September 26, 2003

FREDERIC T. BOYER
Frederic T. Boyer,
Chief Financial OÇcer
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